UC Davis UC Davis Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Canine Distemper Virus in Wildlife: Knowledge and Gaps in Understanding

Permalink

https://escholarship.org/uc/item/770609br

Author

Rein-Weston, Annie

Publication Date

2023

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

Canine Distemper Virus in Wildlife: Knowledge and Gaps in Understanding

Ву

ANNIE CAITLIN REIN-WESTON THESIS

Submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF SCIENCE

in

Integrative Pathobiology

in the

OFFICE OF GRADUATE STUDIES

of the

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

DAVIS

Approved:

Simon Anthony, Chair

Beate Crossley

Patricia Pesavento

Committee in Charge

Table of contents

Introduction1
Part 1: Virology and pathogenesis
Taxonomy and classification3
Virus structure and infection cycle6
Pathogenesis and clinical disease10
Diagnostics14
Materials and Methods:18
Part 2: Ecology, epidemiology, and evolution
Genetic diversity and global distribution of lineages22
Host range, notable outbreaks, and disease prevalence28
Vaccination
Cross-species transmission dynamics32
Signatures of adaptation35
Materials and Methods
Results
Discussion41
Conclusion
Appendices
Appendix 1: Abbexa's lateral flow diagnostic instructions for use45
Appendix 2: List of full-length CDV genomes from wildlife species
Appendix 3: List of full-length CDV genomes from domestic dogs
References

Abstract

Canine distemper virus (CDV) is a highly contagious respiratory pathogen that infects a broad range of terrestrial carnivores with documented spillover into marine mammals. The virus is particularly prevalent in urban wildlife, but the transmission dynamics that maintain the virus in wildlife are unclear. We conducted a survey of the literature to summarize what is known about CDV in wildlife and to identify gaps and biases in our understanding of this virus. Though CDV is well characterized in dogs, gaps and biases limit our understanding about CDV in wildlife including how the virus evolves within and between hosts. We present two original contributions that aim to address these gaps in knowledge – a proposed study to evaluate a commercially available lateral flow diagnostic for use in raccoons and the results of an initial study to look at signatures of positive selection in each of the proteins CDV encodes. A sensitive and specific point of care diagnostic could be used at wildlife rehabilitation centers, not only to potentially prevent unnecessary euthanasia of an uninfected animal, but also to identify infected animals for further testing of wildtype viral genomes. The results of our positive selection study indicate that additional proteins encoded by CDV, beyond the hemagglutinin and fusion proteins, which are commonly cited in the literature, may also be under positive selection pressure. These results indicate more detailed studies may be warranted for a deeper understanding of selection pressures on the virus.

iii

Introduction

Instead of specializing in one host, like HIV or measles, CDV routinely infects multiple species and has an expanding host range.¹ CDV was first identified in domestic dogs in the 1700s but is capable of infecting over 90 species ranging from marmots to elephants.² Disease caused by distemper was described in South America in 1746 and in Europe by 1770.³ Edward Jenner described the disease in 1809, noting "it is as contagious among dogs as the smallpox, measles, or scarlet fever among the human species" and that "the animal which has once gone through it, very rarely meets with a second attack."⁴ Over 200 years later, Jenner's observations have now been well established - that CDV, like other morbilliviruses, is highly contagious and infection produces what is considered lifelong immunity. Because of their high reproductive number, morbilliviruses require high levels of vaccination to prevent outbreaks.^{5,6} A vaccine for CDV exists and is widely used; however, CDV remains a threat not only to dogs, but to wild carnivores as well. CDV is especially prevalent among canids, including dogs and foxes, but notable outbreaks have also occurred in endangered animals such as black-footed ferrets and Caspian seals, and in species of economic importance, such as farmed mink and laboratory macaques.

Since 1951, over 2,500 journal articles have been published on CDV (Figure 1), supporting a wealth of knowledge on the virus, its host and geographic range, and the disease it causes. However, there are still many gaps in our understanding of CDV biology, including the molecular mechanisms that underpin CDV evolution and adaptation to new hosts, and the frequency and dynamics of cross-species transmission events. Many of these gaps reflect a simple lack of research effort, while others reflect sampling and other forms of biases that may skew our interpretation of existing data.



This thesis aims to summarize our understanding of canine distemper virus in wildlife. The goal of this work is to identify key gaps in our understanding of the virus in wildlife and to propose future avenues of research. Where appropriate, we draw comparisons with what is known about CDV in dogs for the purpose of illustrating gaps in our understanding of the virus in wildlife. The thesis is organized broadly into two parts: Part 1 describes how the virus is classified, how it functions and how it is diagnosed; Part 2 describes what we know about the global distribution of the virus, which animals it infects, and how it crosses species borders. Two key original contributions are also included, one for each of the two sections of this thesis. The first original contribution is a proposal to test a commercially available lateral flow assay developed for dogs in raccoons. The second is an evolutionary analysis focused on comparing signatures of positive selection in different CDV genes. In both cases, these contributions serve to catalyze new research directions and advance both clinical application and our basic understanding of the virus. Altogether, this thesis suggests we still have much to learn about the mechanisms that underpin CDV adaptation within and between hosts.

Part 1: Virology and pathogenesis

This section contains information on CDV taxonomy, virus structure and infection cycle, clinical disease and pathogenesis, and diagnostics. The key original contribution in this section is a proposal to evaluate the sensitivity and specificity of Abbexa's lateral flow assay for use in raccoons.

Taxonomy and classification

Canine distemper viruses (species *Morbillivirus canis*) are classified within the *Morbillivirus* genus and the *Paramyxoviridae* family. The International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV) currently lists seven morbillivirus species, including: *Morbillivirus canis* (prototype virus: canine distemper virus), *Morbillivirus caprinae* (prototype virus: peste des petits ruminants virus), *Morbillivirus caprinae* (prototype virus: peste des petits ruminants virus), *Morbillivirus ceti* (prototype virus: dolphin morbillivirus), *Morbillivirus felis* (prototype virus: feline morbillivirus), *Morbillivirus hominis* (prototype virus: measles virus), *Morbillivirus pecoris* (prototype virus: rinderpest virus), and *Morbillivirus phocae* (prototype virus: phocine distemper virus).⁷ In addition to these seven established species, recent surveys of bats in South America have identified new putative species within the morbillivirus genus.^{8,9} These novel bat viruses are most closely related to canine distemper virus and phocine morbillivirus and demonstrate that our knowledge of morbillivirus diversity is still far from complete.

Morbillivirus species are characterized primarily by host range and sequence divergence.⁷ According to ICTV, species are defined phylogenetically based on the RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) amino acid sequence. Viruses separated by a branch length of 0.03 or less are considered a single species within the *Morbillivirus* genus. Among terrestrial animals, measles virus primarily infects primates, rinderpest (eradicated in 2011) primarily infects cattle, and peste des petits ruminants primarily infects goats and sheep.^{10,11} Among marine mammals, dolphin morbilliviruses are part of a larger group of cetacean morbilliviruses that primarily infect cetaceans (whales, dolphins, and porpoises), while phocine distemper virus primarily circulates among pinnipeds (seals, sea lions, and

walruses), which caused a large outbreak among Harbor seals in 1988.^{12,13} Dolphin and phocine morbilliviruses have caused mass mortality events among marine mammals and thus pose a major conservation concern.

A review of the morbillivirus phylogeny reveals evidence of cross-species transmission events driving genetic diversification. Rinderpest and measles viruses are closely related and share a recent common ancestor (Figure 2).¹⁴ It is thought that measles virus most likely evolved following the spillover of a rinderpest-like virus in cattle roughly 2,000 – 3,000 years ago, facilitated by close contact between humans and livestock.^{15,16} Canine distemper and phocine morbilliviruses are similarly closely related (Figure 2), suggesting these two viruses may also have evolved into two discrete lineages following a cross-species transmission event. Though the origins of CDV are unclear, there is some evidence to suggest it was introduced into the Americas during colonization and then spread with the movement of dogs as the global pet trade established and grew.^{17,18} Some groups suggest after evolving as a virus in dogs, CDV was then transmitted to marine mammals, where it served as the progenitor for what we now recognize as phocine morbillivirus.¹⁹



Figure 2. Evolutionary history of morbilliviruses was inferred using the Maximum Likelihood method in MEGA11. The tree is based on the complete RNA-dependent RNA polymerase sequence. Branch lengths measured in the number of substitutions per site. The tree was constructed using the General Time Reversible Model, Gamma Distributed with Invariant Sites (GTR + G + I) substitution model, which was determined to be the best fit model based on Akaike information criterion (AIC) in MEGA11. Confidence in inferred nodes was calculated using 100 bootstraps (values shown on tree nodes). The phylogeny is rooted with feline morbillivirus. Rooting the tree using a more distantly related virus, such as Sendai virus, produced the same arrangement. With the exception of Myotis bat morbillivirus, all viruses are officially recognized by the ICTV. Recognition of Myotis bat morbillivirus is pending.

<u>Summary</u>

Key findings: CDV is a member of the morbillivirus genus, which includes well known members such as

measles virus and the now eradicated rinderpest virus.

Gaps: Recently discovered bat morbilliviruses, which are closely related to CDV based on the RdRp

phylogenetic tree, indicate our knowledge of morbillivirus diversity is incomplete.

Future research directions: Additional surveillance of wildlife hosts is needed to reveal a more complete

picture of the diversity of morbilliviruses circulating in nature. While surveillance efforts can be costly,

large biobanks of samples already exist that could be utilized for these efforts. For instance, samples

remaining from the PREDICT project, a large international surveillance project, could be used. Further, as

investigators increasingly turn to next generation sequencing and submit raw data files to public SRA

databases, it may also become feasible to conduct in silico surveillance for morbillivirus sequences. Whatever the approach, describing unknown morbilliviruses in wildlife is necessary to support a deeper understanding of the ecological and evolutionary forces shaping the diversity and distribution of these important human and animal pathogens.

Virus structure and infection cycle

Like all morbilliviruses, CDV is an enveloped virus with a single-stranded, negative-sense RNA genome of approximately 15,690 nucleotides. CDV virions are pleomorphic and can be both spherical and filamentous, with a diameter range from 150-350 nanometers.²⁰ CDV encodes six structural proteins that are sequentially transcribed: 3' – nucleocapsid (N), phosphoprotein (P), matrix protein (M), fusion protein (F), hemagglutinin protein (H), and RdRp, also known as the long protein (L) -5' (Figure 3). Two non-structural proteins, C and V, are expressed through translation of alternative start sites within the P gene and are involved with immune evasion and virulence.^{21,22,23,24} The V protein acts as a virulence factor by blocking the host's interferon response while the C protein acts as a polymerase cofactor to regulate viral RNA synthesis.²⁵ The N protein encapsidates and protects the RNA genome and together the N, P, and L proteins form the ribonucleoprotein complex within the virion.²⁶ Each N protein monomer interacts with exactly 6 nucleotides, leading to an interesting feature common to all paramyxoviruses known as the 'rule of six'.²⁷ Because each N protein interacts with six nucleotides, paramyxovirus genomes are always multiples of six nucleotides (i.e., the full genome length can always be divided perfectly by six). The viral envelope, which consists of the M, F, and H proteins, surrounds the ribonucleoprotein complex.²⁶ The M proteins within the envelope help stabilize the virion and the spike proteins, H and F, facilitate attachment, fusion and entry into host cells. Neutralizing antibodies are induced against the H and F proteins. Therefore, it is thought that in response to the selection pressure imposed by neutralizing antibodies against the H protein, in particular, the H protein maintains the highest degree of genetic diversity.²⁸



Binding of the H protein to a host-cell receptor triggers a conformational change that drives fusion of the F protein to the cell membrane and facilitates the release of the ribonucleoprotein complex into the cell cytoplasm.²⁹ The RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) then initiates sequential transcription of genomic RNA, leading to the accumulation of mRNA transcripts, which are capped and polyadenylated. Once sufficient N protein is synthesized (presumably enough to encapsidate new viral genomes) the N protein binds nascent RNA, which signals the RdRp to start replicating complete positive sense genomes (antigenomes) that serve as templates for the negative sense RNA genomes.²⁶ Thus, synthesis of viral proteins rapidly amplifies. The P protein binds to the RNA:N protein complex, as well as the L (RdRP) protein, and serves as a cofactor to facilitate replication by the polymerase.³⁰ The M protein facilitates virus assembly by interacting with the ribonucleoprotein complex to drive transport to the plasma membrane and assembly of viral particles.³¹ During assembly at the cell membrane, F and H proteins are incorporated into the virus envelope and progeny viral particles are released through budding. A summary of the replication cycle is provided below in Figure 4.



An interesting feature of morbilliviruses is that they are dual-tropic, first using SLAM/CD150 as a receptor to enter alveolar immune cells (primarily macrophages and dendritic cells) and later using nectin-4, a cell adhesion molecule, as a receptor to enter lung epithelial cells.³² After SLAM-mediated entry into alveolar immune cells in the lung and initial replication in regional lymph nodes,

morbilliviruses then move into the bloodstream (i.e., viremic phase) where they infect other lymphoid organs, such as the spleen, thymus, appendix, and tonsils. Accordingly, the first stage of infection with a morbillivirus is typically marked by profound immunosuppression due to the destruction of immune cells.³³ When infection in the lymphatic system reaches its peak, morbilliviruses begin to infect lung epithelial cells using nectin-4 expressed on the basolateral surface of lung epithelial cells.³⁴ This switch in receptor use from SLAM early in infection to nectin-4 late in infection is a hallmark of morbilliviruses. Infection in the lung epithelium results in virus assembly and release of virions into the airway, where it can then be transmitted to the next host. The late stage of infection is essential for transmission of the morbillivirus to susceptible hosts.³⁵ Experimental animal models show in vivo that measles virus and CDV that cannot bind nectin-4 do not shed virus in the airways, thereby preventing efficient transmission.^{35,36} Therefore, nectin-4 appears to play a pivotal role in viral transmission during the late stages of infection.³⁴ Similarly, the recently identified Myotis bat morbillivirus also depends on nectin-4 for replication in an epithelial cell line.³⁷ Cyclical adaptation of MeV populations have been shown to facilitate binding first to immune cells then to epithelial cells in vitro, but it remains unknown whether CDV populations also facilitate binding to diverse tissues throughout the course of infection.³⁸

<u>Summary</u>

Key findings: CDV encodes six structural proteins and two nonstructural proteins that are involved in immune evasion and virulence. The hemagglutinin and fusion proteins are recognized by the immune system and targets of host antibodies. CDV infects first lung immune cells using SLAM, then lung epithelial cells using nectin-4.

Gaps: The mechanisms by which CDV adapts to different tissues during infection is unknown. One possibility is that, similar to MeV, CDV maintains sufficient fine-scale genetic diversity (i.e., exists as a quasi-species) during infection that it can readily adapt to different tissues within a single host. If true, the switch from SLAM to nectin-4 would presumably impose significant selection pressure akin to a

bottleneck and dramatically alter the distribution of variants towards those with a nectin-4 binding phenotype. While plausible, this model does not explain how the virus then re-acquires a preference for SLAM after transmission to a new host. How CDV switches from SLAM to nectin-4 and then back to SLAM remains an open question.

Future research directions: The first step to understanding the role of intra-host selection on cell tropism could be to deep sequence the virus from different tissues over the course of infection. Such a study would require an animal experiment to obtain a time course of infected tissues. Deep sequencing of CDV genomes from different tissues would facilitate the comparison of viral population variants (i.e., mutations) by tissue type and over time. A dominance of mutations from virus in the lungs early in infection that is different from the distribution of mutations from virus in other tissues later in infection would indicate a role for selection in driving changes in receptor use. Future research could also address why CDV, and paramyxoviruses more generally, switch the receptors they use. One could assume the switch provides an advantage in transmission, but empirical evidence to support this hypothesis is lacking. Studies to understand the relative fitness advantage of using SLAM vs. nectin-4 may provide further insight into CDV life history.

Pathogenesis and clinical disease

CDV pathogenesis in dogs is well documented based on experimental and naturally occurring infections. CDV is highly contagious and spread through the respiratory route, primarily through contact with droplets or aerosols.^{30,37} Upon inhalation into the lungs, CDV first replicates in the lymphatic tissue of the upper respiratory tract where it replicates primarily in monocytes and macrophages in the lungs. This initial phase of viral replication occurs in the first 24 hours following infection. The virus then spreads through the lymphatic system to regional lymph nodes and tonsils.³⁹ Initial infection is marked by fever and immunosuppression caused by apoptosis of leukocytes. At 4-6 days post infection, CDV spreads more widely and can be detected in distal lymphoid tissue, including mesenteric lymph nodes

and the spleen.³⁹ This second phase of infection is marked by viremia and a second fever (biphasic fevers are typical of morbillivirus infections) as the virus spreads through the blood to infect parenchymal tissues in the respiratory tract, digestive tract, skin, and, in some cases, the central nervous system.¹ At this stage, 9-14 days post infection, disease manifestations can include respiratory signs, such as conjunctivitis, coughing, and nasal discharge, as well as gastrointestinal signs, such as vomiting, diarrhea, and dehydration. Secondary bacterial infections can exacerbate clinical signs. Lethargy and loss of appetite are common. Like other morbilliviruses, CDV can also infect epidermal cells, leading to the proliferation of footpad keratinocytes in many species (Figure 5).⁴⁰



Figure 5: <u>Top panel</u>: Images from Martella V. et. al.: Dog with CDV infection showing conjunctivitis with periocular discharge (left) and hyperkeratosis of the foot pads (A) and nose (B). Images from: Vito Martella, Gabrielle Elia, and Canio Buonavoglia. Canine Distemper Virus, Veterinary Clinics of North America: Small Animal Practice, Volume 38, Issue 4, 2008, Pages 787-797, ISSN 0195-5616, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cvsm.2008.02.007</u>.

<u>Bottom panel:</u> Images from Feng, N. et al.: Giant panda with CDV infection showing a) nasal hyperkeratosis and (b) footpad hyperkeratosis. Images from Feng, N., Yu, Y., Wang, T. et al. Fatal canine distemper virus infection of giant pandas in China. Sci Rep 6, 27518 (2016). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep27518</u>.

CDV strains are lymphotropic and epitheliotropic, but sometimes neurotropic as well.⁴¹ In a ferret model, CDV can enter the central nervous system through the olfactory nerve or across the bloodbrain barrier and can then be detected in neurons and glial cells 4-5 weeks post infection.⁴² Although nectin-4 is expressed by neurons and may be the cell receptor for CDV entry into neurons, CDV has also been found in astrocytes, which do not express nectin-4 or SLAM; therefore, whether CDV uses a receptor to infect astrocytes and, if so, which receptor, is still unknown.^{43,44} Neuroinvasion of CDV in dogs can cause fatal acute encephalitis. If the virus spreads to the central nervous system, neurological signs can include ataxia, seizures, and paralysis and is often fatal. The molecular determinants underlying CDV neuropathogenesis are largely unknown.⁴⁵

Pathogenesis largely depends on the dog's immune response – a robust cellular and humoral immune response are required, especially the immediate generation of CDV-specific IgM antibodies, or the infection can be fatal.^{1,33} Weak or delayed cellular and humoral immune responses can lead to virus spread and persistence, with sequelae that include lymphoid depletion and impaired immune function, similar to sequelae described for infection with measles virus.³³

CDV disease is best characterized in dogs. In dogs, clinical manifestations of infection can range from subclinical to fatal, with an estimated 50% mortality rate. Clinical signs in dogs include fever, lethargy, and respiratory and gastrointestinal signs, such as coughing, nasal secretions, vomiting, inappetence, and diarrhea. Neurological signs, such as head tilt, paralysis, or trembling, can occur if the virus enters the central nervous system. CDV is a serious disease in dogs with mortality rates second only to rabies.

Clinical disease caused by CDV varies by species and can range from subclinical to fatal, depending on the virus strain, as well as host age and immune status.⁴⁶ Clinical signs in raccoons and

foxes range from fever, coughing, difficulty breathing, ocular discharge, diarrhea, and listlessness to ataxia, lethargy, convulsions, paralysis, emaciation, and coma.^{47,48,49} Neurological signs in these animals are well documented, and include disorientation, a loss of fear of humans, and respiratory distress; these cases must be differentiated from rabies.^{1,50,51} Humans may disproportionately see wild animals with advanced CDV disease simply because advanced CDV disease can lead to neurological and behavioral changes that render an animal unwary of humans.

Mortality rates vary widely in diverse species and could also depend on the CDV strain. For example, a CDV outbreak among terrestrial carnivores in Switzerland with particularly high mortality was attributed to genetic changes in the virus that increased its neurotropism, thereby increasing its pathogenicity.⁵² In this case, there was a sudden emergence of clinical signs, including respiratory and neurologic disease, in red foxes and Eurasian lynx, compared to previous decades of surveillance indicating serologic evidence of exposure to CDV with no (observed) clinical cases.⁵² Mortality rates of 50% have been estimated in raccoons and skunks, whereas CDV is considered almost 100% fatal in mustelids, such as ferrets, martens, and otters, as well as raccoon dogs (family: *Canidae*, genus: *Nyctereutes*).^{53,54,55,56,57}

<u>Summary</u>

Key findings: CDV is lymphotropic, epitheliotropic, and often neurotropic, causing severe disease in a broad range of species. Clinical signs vary between species, but often include respiratory and gastrointestinal signs. Biphasic infections are typical of morbilliviruses and mark the transition from infection of lymphocytes to infection of lung epithelial cells.

Gaps: The molecular mechanisms underlying why and how CDV sometimes breaches the central nervous system are undefined.

Future research directions: To determine whether there might be a genetic basis for CDV neurotropism, one could compare the pattern of mutations from CDV found in the central nervous system (brain and

spinal cord) with the pattern of mutations from CDV found in other tissues. Deep sequencing and genetic analysis could reveal whether specific mutations in the virus are associated with neurotropism. In addition, we would expect the patterns of mutation associated with neurotropism to be recapitulated in an in vitro model system. For example, we would expect neurotropic CDV to outcompete wildtype CDV as measured by growth curves in a nervous tissue cell line.

Diagnostics

Diagnosis of CDV in wildlife can be challenging. Generally, presumptive diagnosis of CDV is based on clinical signs, which can vary between species and include respiratory and neurologic signs that are also commonly caused by other diseases.^{58,59,60} In addition, clinical signs may not be apparent in the early stages of infection.

Diagnostic tools exist to detect CDV, including virus isolation, nucleic acid detection, antigen detection, and antibody detection. Virus isolation is considered the 'gold standard' for diagnosis of CDV but is not always successful. There are numerous PCR based assays to detect viral nucleic acid, including quantitative reverse transcription PCR (qRT-PCR) to amplify portions of the viral genome, as well as deep sequencing assays (Illumina and Nanopore platforms) to determine full-length CDV genomes.⁶¹ ELISAs have been developed to detect CDV antigens (H and F proteins) and antibodies generated against CDV. Immunohistochemistry is often used for postmortem detection of CDV in tissue samples.⁶² A summary table of diagnostic assays for CDV from Karki et. al. is provided below (Table 1).⁶³

Diagnostic tool	Target	Application	Application			
Virus isolation	(MDCK, Vero cells- SLAM B95a, etc)	Virus	Gold standard test Highly sensitive, helpful for generating virus repository (Require live virus titre, specific cell line and cell culture facilities)			
	Direct ELISA	CDV antigen	Detects antigen in serum			
Antigen detection	Sandwich ELISA	H protein	High specificity Detection and quantitation			
		F protein	Efficient in field application with fecal and serum samples			
	Sandwich dot ELISA	Virus	Epidemiological surveillance			
	LFA	F protein	Practically applicable in the field for quick diagnosis			
Nucleic acid detection	RT-PCR	N gene	Standard laboratory test			
	One-step nested-RT- PCR	N gene	100-fold sensitivity than RT-PCR and nested PCR			
	Double step real time-RT-PCR	N gene	Highly sensitive and specific Quantitate viral load in clinical samples			
	One-step real-time RT-PCR		To study viral replication and kinetics of viral RNA load in infection			
	RT-LAMP assay	H gene	100-times sensitive than RT-PCR Only 1 hour reaction			
Virus-specific antibody detection	ELISA	IgG Antibody	Detect within 6 days of infection Sensitive as SNT			
	Dot blot assay	N-protein specific IgM	Detecting recent infections			
	Capture sandwich ELISA	N-protein specific IgG & IgM Antibody	No Cross-reactivity with other Morbilliviruses			
Table 1. Diagnostic tools for routine diagnosis of CDV in laboratory and field. Table from Karki, M., Rajak, K.K. & Singh, R.P. Canine morbillivirus (CDV): a review on current status, emergence and the diagnostics. VirusDis. 33, 309–321 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/s13337-022-00779-7						

Molecular assays exist for detection of CDV among wildlife, including a pan-genotypic quantitative PCR (qPCR) that detects a conserved region of the P gene and can detect all globally available genotypes of CDV.⁶⁴ There are also nanopore protocols for sequencing full-length CDV genomes.⁶⁵ In this case, CDV genomes were sequenced from foxes with a pan-genotype CDV-specific amplicon-based sequencing method that was then optimized for the Nanopore platform.⁶⁵ However, qPCR and nanopore assays must be done in laboratories with appropriate equipment, which prohibits real-time clinical decisions to euthanize an animal or not. To this end, a qPCR based assay using the Biomeme platform has undergone preliminary testing for use in wildlife, but the assay is slightly less sensitive compared to lab-based methods.⁶⁶ For wildlife clinic settings, a lateral flow diagnostic that is affordable, portable, shelf-stable, easily used in-house by staff and trained volunteers without special reagents or machines, that can be used on non-invasive tissue samples, such as conjunctival swabs, and that provides a result within minutes would be ideal.^{62,63}

A lateral flow diagnostic could prevent unnecessary euthanasia for animals presenting with clinical signs but not infected with CDV.⁶³ Multiple lateral flow tests have been developed, including a commercially available test developed by the British Manufacturer Abbexa, to detect CDV antigen in nasal fluid, serum, saliva and conjunctival secretions from domestic dogs; however, the assay has not been evaluated for use in other species.⁶⁷ Since morbilliviruses are considered monoserotypic and antibodies generated against one morbillivirus cross-react with antibodies generated against other morbilliviruses, it is likely that the canine antibody used in commercially available lateral flow assays for dogs would detect CDV antigen in wildlife, but studies to measure analytic and diagnostic sensitivity and specificity of a lateral flow assay in other species are needed.^{15,16,68,69} Better diagnostic tools for detecting CDV in wildlife are needed.

<u>Summary</u>

Key findings: There are a variety of ways to detect CDV in the laboratory.

Gap: Clinical diagnostic tools for detecting CDV are needed, especially point-of-care antemortem diagnostics to facilitate clinical decisions. Such a tool could also be used to screen animals for CDV. CDV-infected animals, who would be humanely euthanized because of the infection, could also be identified to collect tissue samples for further testing, such as deep sequencing. Thus, the diagnostic tool could help facilitate generation of surveillance data, as well.

Future research directions: We propose a study to estimate the analytical and diagnostic specificity and sensitivity of Abbexa's lateral flow assay for detection of CDV antigen in conjunctival swabs from raccoons compared to a validated dual reverse transcription (RT)-qPCR assay for reference. A lateral flow test used as a confirmatory point-of-care diagnostic in raccoons could help wildlife veterinarians confirm or refute presumptive CDV cases, thereby potentially preventing unnecessary euthanasia.

Original contribution 1: Proposal to evaluate Abbexa's commercially available rapid test for specific and sensitive detection of canine distemper virus in raccoons

Introduction:

Canine distemper virus (CDV) is a globally distributed respiratory virus that causes epizootic outbreaks with high mortality in urban wildlife, as well as species of economic and conservation concern.^{70,71,72,73,74} CDV infects a broad range of carnivores and can be readily found in gray foxes, raccoons, coyotes, and striped skunks.² A study in Michigan from 2008-2018 found 10-year average prevalence rates of CDV antigen detected by immunohistochemistry of 79.4% in gray foxes, 59.6% in raccoons, 50.0% in coyotes, and 44.4% in striped skunks.⁷⁵ Animals presented to wildlife clinics with suspected CDV have poor prognoses and are humanely euthanized (personal communication with the lead veterinarian at Lindsay Wildlife Rehabilitation Hospital). A lateral flow test used as a confirmatory point-of-care diagnostic in raccoons could help wildlife veterinarians confirm or refute presumptive CDV cases, thereby potentially preventing unnecessary euthanasia. The purpose of this study would be to

evaluate the performance of a 'Canine Distemper Virus Antigen Rapid Test Kit' developed by the British manufacturer Abbexa for confirming CDV infection in raccoons. Abbexa's lateral flow test was developed for detection of CDV antigen in serum, urine, nasal fluid, saliva, and conjunctival secretions from domestic dogs, but the assay has not been evaluated for use in other species. Our research aims would be to estimate the analytical and diagnostic specificity and sensitivity of Abbexa's lateral flow assay for detection of CDV antigen in conjunctival swabs from raccoons compared to a validated dual reverse transcription (RT)-qPCR assay for reference.

Abbexa's lateral flow assay uses a conjugated antibody to detect CDV antigen in dogs, however it is unknown whether the antibody will detect CDV antigen in raccoons. Since morbilliviruses, like CDV, are considered monoserotypic and antibodies generated against one morbillivirus cross-react with antibodies generated against other morbilliviruses, we are confident the canine antibody used in Abbexa's lateral flow assay will detect CDV antigen from infected raccoons.^{68,69} At the same time, crossreaction could cause false positive results if a raccoon is infected with another morbillivirus, but the chances of a raccoon being infected with another morbillivirus are low since the other morbilliviruses are species-specific or eradicated. If Abbexa's lateral flow assay meets diagnostic cutoffs of 100% specificity and at least 90% sensitivity (since the test will be used as a confirmatory diagnostic rather than a screening tool we will not accept false positive results, but will accept a level of false negative results), this project will lay the foundation for further assay validation, including reproducibility, with the long-term goal of adoption by wildlife clinics as a point of care confirmatory diagnostic for CDV in raccoons.

Materials and Methods:

<u>Study population, sampling strategy, and eligibility criteria</u>: This proposed project leverages an established collaboration with Lindsay Wildlife Rehabilitation Hospital in Contra Costa County, CA, where antemortem conjunctival swabs and blood samples from raccoons will be collected by trained

personnel. The study population will include raccoons with or without suspected distemper who are presented to the clinic during a 1-year collection time frame (e.g., January 1, 2024 - December 31, 2024). Thus, our study will be based on a convenience sample of raccoons representing a subset of the larger target population of raccoons in Contra Costa County, CA. Inclusion criteria will include any raccoon, with or without suspected CDV infection, that arrives at Lindsay Wildlife Rehabilitation Hospital during the 1-year sample collection timeframe. Exclusion criteria are species other than raccoons.

<u>Study design and data collection</u>: The study design is a prospective case-control study in which a 'case' is defined as a raccoon with signs that lead the veterinarian to a presumptive diagnosis of CDV, which may

abnormal behavior, such as ataxia and disorientation. 'Controls' are defined as raccoons without signs of CDV but have arrived at the clinic for another reason, such as being hit by a car. When a raccoon arrives at the clinic and is sedated for examination (according to standard clinic procedures), trained personnel will collect two samples: a conjunctival sample with a cotton swab that is placed immediately into Abbexa's diluent for testing on the lateral flow assay and a 0.5mL blood sample using venipuncture collected into a tube containing viral transport media (Figure 6). The blood sample will be

include ocular or nasal discharge, emaciation, and



stored at 4°C and transported to UC Davis for future dual RT-qPCR testing in the laboratory. The person collecting samples and running the Abbexa lateral flow test will not be blind to the clinical presentation of the raccoon, while the person conducting the dual RT-qPCR for detection of CDV in blood samples will be blind to clinical information. The person running the PCR test will not know the results of the Abbexa

test and vice versa. Sample collection, labeling, transport, and storage protocols will be optimized and adhered to for the duration of the study to limit potential variability and sources of preanalytical error. In addition to sample collection, the study team will also record the raccoon's sex, estimated age (juvenile, subadult, or adult), reason for presentation, and clinical outcomes in an excel database. There is little evidence to suggest CDV in wildlife infects males or females disproportionately, but some evidence to suggest younger animals may be more susceptible to infection.⁵⁹ Therefore, we will analyze our data with and without stratification on sex and age to confirm whether stratification is warranted. Test methods: The reference standard for this study is a dual RT-qPCR developed and tested on wildlife samples from diverse species, tissue types, and geographic locations.⁷⁶ Halecker et. al. estimated the dual RT-qPCR assay was 98.9% sensitive and 100% specific. We chose this reference standard because it has been validated in wildlife species, including raccoons, and because it is highly sensitive and specific in detecting diverse lineages of CDV, which is important because CDV shows geographical patterns of distribution; the CDV lineages circulating in Europe are distinct from those circulating in North America.⁷⁷ In this study, we will use the same protocol, reagents, primers, and probes described by Halecker et. al. We will replicate the analytical sensitivity and specificity testing in our laboratory and, assuming similar results, will use the cycle threshold (Ct) cutoff value of \leq 34 described by Halecker et. al. to define a positive test result. The expected range of results for the dual RT-qPCR is 0 to 40 Ct and results will be categorized as 'positive' for Ct values of \leq 34 or 'negative' for Ct values > 34. Results for Abbexa's lateral flow assay will be categorized as 'positive' if both the control and test lines are present and 'negative' if only the test line is present (please see appendix).

<u>Sample size estimates and justification</u>: We will calculate the sample size needed to estimate two proportions: one to estimate sensitivity and one to estimate specificity. Sample sizes will be calculated with <u>EpiTools</u> and will consider an apparent CDV prevalence among raccoons in Contra Costa County of 20%-30% (personal communication with Lindsay Wildlife Rehabilitation Hospital manager). Our sample

size will also increase if CDV prevalence is <20%.

<u>Statistical methods for calculating test characteristics</u>: Preliminary feasibility studies to estimate analytical test characteristics will be conducted using a vaccine strain of CDV as a positive control to establish lower limits of detection and a panel of paramyxoviruses as negative controls to determine cross-reactivity.⁷⁸ Diagnostic test characteristics will be analyzed by comparing the results of both the dual RT-qPCR reference test and Abbexa's lateral flow assay using samples collected from raccoons. <u>Analytical sensitivity (lower limit of detection)</u>: Onderstepoort canine distemper vaccine strain will be passaged in Madin Darby Canine Kidney cells and a six-fold serial dilution $(10^4 - 10^{-1})$ of the virus will be used as a positive control for replicates of Abbexa's lateral flow assay and the dual RT-qPCR assay. The lower limit of detection for each test will be determined as the lowest virus titer that yields a positive test result for 95% of the replicates for each test.

<u>Analytical specificity (cross-reaction profile)</u>: Replicates of Abbexa's lateral flow assay will be evaluated against a panel of paramyxoviruses, including two closely related morbilliviruses (peste des petits ruminants virus and measles) and two more distantly related paramyxoviruses (Newcastle and mumps). Both the reference dual RT-qPCR assay and Abbexa's lateral flow assay should yield negative results for all viruses except the canine distemper vaccine strain.

	test		
Abbexa test	+	-	Total
+	А	В	A + B
-	С	D	C + D
Total	A + C	B + D	A + B + C + D

Diagnostic sensitivity and specificity will be calculated with the following 2x2 table:

Diagnostic sensitivity = A/(A + C) is the probability of a positive test result given the animal is truly infected with CDV and diagnostic specificity = D/(B + D) is the probability of a negative test result given the animal is truly not infected with CDV.⁷⁹ Once these proportions are determined, confidence intervals for the sensitivity and specificity point estimates will be generated in openepi.com, under 'counts', and 'proportion'. We will use the 2x2 table because we assume the two tests are independent (Abbexa's lateral flow assay detects CDV antigen whereas the dual RT-qPCR assay detects CDV nucleic acid); however, we will conduct a sensitivity analysis to account for the possibility that the tests may not actually be independent, since both tests detect acute infection. If our diagnostic targets of 100% specificity and at least 90% sensitivity are reached, Abbexa's lateral flow test could be used as an additional tool to confirm presumptive diagnosis of CDV in raccoons based on clinical signs and lay the foundation for further assay validation.

Part 2: Ecology, epidemiology, and evolution

This section contains information on CDV genetic diversity and global distribution of lineages, host range, notable outbreaks, and disease prevalence, vaccination, cross-species transmission dynamics, and signatures of adaptations. The key original contribution in this section is a preliminary comparison of selection pressures for each gene encoded by CDV.

Genetic diversity and global distribution of lineages

CDV strains are relatively conserved with little genetic diversity between strains. Beinke et. al. notes "though sequence data analysis of field isolates of CDV revealed several clusters of distemper strains, overall a considerable genetic stability of CDV even in recent outbreaks was observed."³³ Among the six structural CDV proteins, F and H contain the most diversity, while M and L amino acid sequences diverge very little (Table 2). The most diverse amino acid sequence is found in the F protein, which shares 92.8% amino acid identity across different CDV strains, whereas the most conserved protein is the M protein, which shares 99.9% amino acid identity across different CDV strains.

	Nuc	cleotide	Ar	nino acid
Coding sequence	Min distance	Average	Min distance	Average
Ν	87.9	95.7	93.6	97.5
Р	91.5	95.8	88.5	94.7
Μ	92.0	96.1	94.9	99.9
F	88.0	93.6	86.3	92.8
н	88.4	94.2	86.9	93.8
L	91.0	95.6	94.0	98.0

Table 2. Nucleotide and amino acid percent identity show F and H are most diverse, while M and L are most conserved. To generate this table, full-length CDV genomes were aligned in Geneious, then individual genes were extracted and re-aligned to quantify genetic diversity within each gene (nucleotide) and protein (amino acid). Pairwise sequence identities were calculated in Geneious and minimum and average distances are reported.

Though there is only one serotype of CDV, multiple genetic lineages circulate worldwide. CDV



lineages vary by geography and were named after the regions where they were discovered (Figure 7).

By convention, CDV lineages are defined as clusters of CDV that share >95% amino acid sequence

identity within the H protein.^{34,80} This means if the amino acid sequence within the H protein is 94% or

lower, the two strains would be considered separate lineages. In 2018, there were twelve distinct CDV lineages distributed globally.⁸¹ As of 2022, there were at least 20 distinct lineages: Africa-1, Africa-2, Arctic-like, America-1 (which includes commercially available vaccine strains), America-2, America-3, America-4, America-5, Asia-1, Asia-2, Asia-3, Asia-4, Asia-5, Asia-6, Caspian, Europe-1/South America-1, European wildlife, Rockborn-like, South America-2, and South-America-3 (Table 3).^{64,77,81,82} The increase in the number of CDV lineages over the last decade could be due to the emergence of novel viruses, but is more likely explained by increased surveillance efforts.

Virus and genotype	Strain	GenBank	Country	Species	Year	
		accession				
CDV						
Africa-1	WT02SA	KY971532	South Africa	Spotted hyena	2017	
Africa-2	SNP/1994	KU578256	Tanzania	Lion	1994	
Arctic-like	PS88-428	MN267063	Russia	Baikal seal	1988	
America-1	Onderstepoort	AF378705	USA	Fox	1939	
America-2	98-2646	AY542312	USA	Raccoon	1998	
America-3	Fisher1	JN836734	USA	Fisher	2009	
America-4	13_2262	KJ747372	USA	Dog	2013	
America-5	96 America-5	MK487379	USA	Raccoon	2016	
Asia-1	CYN07dV	AB687720	Japan	Macaque	2008	
Asia-2	M25CR	AB475097	Japan	Dog	<2009	
Asia-3	HLJ2	EU743935	China	Dog	2005	
Asia-4	CDV4_TH/2014	MH496775	Thailand	Dog	2014	
Asia-5	MCL-18-Li-1/1	MK037459	India	Lion	2018	
Asia-6	SC18	MW535267	China	Red panda	2018	
Caspian	PC00_36	MN267064	Kazakhstan	Caspian seal	2000	
Europe-1/South America-1	S460/15	MN267060	Germany	Raccoon	2015	
European wildlife	599/2016	KX545421	Italy	Fox	2016	
Rockborn-like	HN19	MT448054	China	Masked palm civet	2019	
South America-2	Arg24	MN365662	Argentina	Dog	2005	
South-America-3	MDE-44/12	MT012802	Colombia	Dog	2012	
PDV						
1988	NLD/1988	KC802221	The Netherlands	Harbor seal	1988	
2002	DV/25002/DK- KAT/EU-2/2002	OK104956	Denmark	Harbor seal	2002	
2006	PDV_USA_2006	KY629928	USA	Harbor seal	2006	
Table 3. Globally recognized CDV strains as of 2022 and described by Geiselhardt et. al. ⁶⁴						

A key characteristic of CDV is its global distribution of lineages and clustering by geography.^{18,83} The phylogenetic tree below shows how CDV clusters generally by geographic region, however, not exclusively (Figure 8). For example, South America-2, North America-3, and Asia-1 lineages are closely related, but the other Asian lineages are spread out (Asia-2 is most closely related with Africa-1 rather than Asia-1). If geography was the sole driver of genetic diversity, we would expect clear distinctions between the African lineages, the Asian lineages, etc. with little intermingling.



There is likely much to be discovered regarding the diversity and distribution of CDV lineages.

Surveillance efforts are not evenly distributed across the globe, with a dearth of full-length CDV

sequences from Canada, South America, Africa, Europe, Russia and Australia (Figure 9). The uneven

global distribution of CDV genomes highlights the need for more surveillance and CDV sequencing from areas where they are currently lacking to gain a deeper understanding of CDV ecology and epidemiology. Increased sampling in Canada, South America, Africa, Europe, Russia, and Australia may lead to the discovery of more genetic diversity among CDV strains and show patterns in geographic distribution that are not currently apparent.



Though geography is a major factor in shaping the evolution of CDV strains, it is not the only factor. At a global scale, there is mixing of strains, such that some clusters of CDV genotypes represent multiple geographic origins. Some research contends geography is not the primary driver of CDV

distribution. For example, Ke et. al. found "no distinct geographical patterns among lineages" but rather that "wild-type isolates clustered into lineages with a spatiotemporal structure and short terminal branches."²⁸ More thorough sampling from diverse locations is needed to better understand the true contribution of geography to overarching patterns of CDV distribution.

<u>Summary</u>

Key findings: CDV strains represent one serotype and are relatively well conserved. Lineages are defined by >95% amino acid sequence identity within the H protein and lineages cluster geographically. *Gaps*: Though CDV exists globally, sampling biases exist with the majority of full-length CDV genomes from four regions – China, USA, Hungary, and Tanzania. However, the data from these countries are skewed toward particular species, which could preclude meaningful comparisons. For example, the sequences from China are mostly from dogs, raccoon dogs, and giant pandas; the sequences from USA are mostly from dogs and raccoons; the sequences from Tanzania are mostly from lions. Thus, comparisons of CDV genomes across countries are highly confounded by the fact that the host species represented are highly inconsistent. Increased sampling effort in other areas of the globe could yield more nuanced patterns in distribution of CDV lineages and reveal more genetic diversity.

Future research directions: Increase sampling effort to characterize CDV genomes from diverse geographic regions, especially from underrepresented areas, such as Canada, African countries, and Australia. There are likely already many existing viral genome sequences that have been generated by individual researchers that have not yet been submitted to public databases but would support future studies on the epidemiology, ecology, and evolution of this virus. By identifying key research questions, such as those outlined in this review, it is hoped that we will encourage both targeted surveillance of under-studied areas and encourage researchers to publish existing data. One under-utilized resource for obtaining a deeper understanding of CDV diversity is local wildlife rehabilitation centers. Organizations

like the Lindsay Wildlife Rehabilitation Hospital in California, receive diverse wildlife patients with suspected CDV. However, they may lack the time and resources to confirm CDV by PCR and to sequence the virus genome. Building collaborations with research labs interested in CDV would be a productive way to generate these essential data.

Host range, notable outbreaks, and disease prevalence

CDV has a broad and expanding host range.¹ According to Rendon-Marin et. al., "the host range of CDV mainly includes species from the order *Carnivora* which belongs to the families *Canidae* (dog, dingo, fox, coyote, jackal, wolf), *Procyonidae* (raccoon, coatimundi), *Mustelidae* (weasel, ferret, fisher, mink, skunk, badger, marten, otter), *Ursidae* (giant panda), *Ailuridae* (red panda), a wide range of members of the family *Felidae* (lions, leopards, cheetahs, tigers), and in a minor extension other important families belonging to different orders such as *Artiodactyla*, *Primates*, *Rodentia*, and *Proboscidea*."³⁴ A systematic review from 2016 noted CDV is capable of infecting 98 different species, including primates, but these results are based largely on reports from captive zoo animals and therefore not representative of naturally occurring infections among free-ranging wildlife, especially since zoo animals in close proximity to one another are at increased risk of transmission.^{2,84,85}

The underlying genetic determinants of host range are largely unknown. Many studies have aimed to address the host range expansion of CDV by looking at the CDV H protein and its interaction with SLAM.^{86,87} Some work has been done to compare the homology of SLAM receptors from different species to better understand whether binding affinity to SLAM contributes to CDV host range. For example, 3D protein modeling of binding interfaces suggest felid SLAM has a lower affinity for CDV H protein compared to canid SLAM.⁸⁸ Another group found raccoon and skunk SLAM may have higher affinity for CDV H compared to coyote SLAM.⁸⁹ Though the interaction between CDV and its receptors are likely a critical piece of the puzzle, these results suggest there is more research needed to understand mechanisms of host specificity.

Notable outbreaks of CDV have occurred not only in zoo animals, but also in wild endangered species. For example, CDV is, in part, attributed to the demise of the last few remaining black-footed ferrets in Wyoming during the 1980s, leading to effective extinction of the species in the wild.^{74,90} In 1994, an outbreak of CDV occurred in Serengeti lions, causing fatal neurologic disease, and spreading to hyenas, leopards, and bat-eared foxes with high morbidity and mortality.^{73,91,92} It was estimated that the outbreak resulted in the death of 30% of the lion population in the Serengeti National Park.⁹³ In 1999, CDV caused a precipitous decline in the population of endangered Santa Catalina Island foxes.⁹⁴ Then in 2000, a mass mortality event caused by CDV occurred in endangered Caspian Seals.⁹⁵ Spillover of CDV into marine mammals has already happened in the past, leading to the persistence and evolution of what is now called phocine distemper virus.⁹⁶ Thus, any outbreak of CDV in seals, or perhaps any wildlife species, is worrying because of the potential for short-term epizootics but also the potential for sustained transmission and long-term population impacts.

CDV has also caused serious outbreaks of disease among captive species of economic importance. For example, outbreaks have occurred with high mortality among farmed mink in Denmark, laboratory Cynomolgus monkeys in Japan, laboratory Rhesus macaques in China, and laboratory ferrets in Australia.^{70,71,97,98} These outbreaks led to the culling of animals and economic losses.^{2,84} In addition, the ability of CDV to infect primates raises concerns about the zoonotic potential of the virus.^{3,68,99}

CDV is especially prevalent among urban carnivores. A 1997 serological survey in Luxembourg found 9-13% of red foxes were positive for CDV antibodies.¹⁰⁰ As noted above, a study in Michigan from 2008-2018 found 10-year average prevalence rates of CDV antigen detected by immunohistochemistry of 79.4% in gray foxes, 59.6% in raccoons, 50.0% in coyotes, and 44.4% in striped skunks.⁷⁵ These animals included mostly dead animals, either found by citizens or collected by hunters, trappers, or animal control, "in response to the animal's exhibiting abnormal behavior, signs of general sickness, or neurologic signs."⁷⁵ A 2016 study in eastern Tennessee reported a high percentage of CDV in raccoons

and gray foxes, including 86% of animals with clinical signs and 55% of animals without clinical signs."¹⁰¹ These data suggest roughly half of healthy gray foxes, raccoons, coyotes, and striped skunks in parts of the United States have been exposed to CDV. Among diseased animals, a study from the 1980s in Illinois found 47.2% of skunks with neurological disease but who tested negative for rabies were positive for CDV antibodies.¹⁰² Taken together, these studies demonstrate that CDV is a significant problem for urban carnivores.

CDV is also prevalent among free-roaming dogs. Two studies focused on dogs near national parks, supposing they may act as a source of CDV among protected wildlife. A 2011 study found 100% (95% CI: 95.9–100) of the 92 dogs sampled near national parks in Uganda showed seroprevalence of CDV, compared to seroprevalence of 19.8% for rabies virus.¹⁰³ A 2019 study of 100 free-roaming dogs near a national park in Nepal found overall CDV seroprevalence of 80.0% (95% CI: 70.8–87.3).¹⁰⁴ These results indicate that the majority of free-roaming populations of dogs have been exposed to CDV.

Vaccination

The history of CDV vaccination in dogs began 100 years ago, starting with inactivated vaccines and live attenuated vaccines to recombinant vaccines. In the 1920s, an inactivated CDV vaccine was developed, but it was not effective at preventing disease. In 1945, a live attenuated vaccine was developed by passaging CDV in ferrets, but this vaccine led to clinical signs and death in some dogs. In 1952 and 1956 the Lederle and Onderstepoort strains were attenuated in embryonate chicken eggs (ECEs) and were successfully used to control distemper disease. In 1960, the Rockborn strain of CDV was grown in a canine kidney cell line, and this modified live attenuated vaccine became the basis of CDV vaccines used today.¹⁰⁵ There were tradeoffs between the inactivated and live attenuated vaccines. Though the live attenuated strains induced protective immunity, they also caused adverse reactions in some cases, such as post-vaccine encephalitis. Conversely, the inactivated vaccines did not cause encephalitis, but did not always induce protective immunity. Inactivated CDV vaccines are no longer

used in the United States. Then, in 1997, a recombinant CDV vaccine was developed using a canarypox virus vector.¹⁰⁶ Although recombinant vaccines do not carry the risk of causing vaccine-induced disease, like the live attenuated vaccines, the duration of immunity generated by recombinant vaccines is often shorter than the duration of immunity generated by live attenuated vaccines. Today, there are roughly 50 commercially available vaccines against distemper in dogs, often formulated in combination with other antigens and dogs are routinely vaccinated.¹⁰⁷

There is no safe and effective vaccine for wildlife.¹⁰⁸ Two vaccines approved for use in dogs are most often studied for use in wildlife species: a live attenuated CDV vaccine (Nobivac[®] series, Merck) and the recombinant canarypox-vectored vaccine (Recombitek series, Merial), but with mixed results.¹⁰⁹ For example, the Recombitek vaccine does not appear to prevent disease in captive maned wolves or captive snow leopards.^{110,111} However, the same vaccine appears to be safe and effective in captive African Wild Dogs and tigers.^{109,112} Vaccine efficacy data is lacking for wildlife species because free-ranging animals are not easily recaptured and monitored following vaccination and because challenge studies in endangered captive animals may not be ethical. Therefore, vaccine data in species at risk of CDV is lacking.

Some vaccine studies in wildlife have been performed on a population level. For example, one study demonstrated field vaccination of raccoons could reduce the prevalence of CDV during an outbreak at the population level.⁵³ This study found that vaccination of raccoons could reduce the prevalence of CDV among raccoons, but that vaccination of domestic dogs did not seem to prevent outbreaks of CDV among wildlife. For example, a recent study of CDV in sea lions in the Galapagos Islands suggests CDV is still a threat to sea lions, despite vaccination of dogs.¹¹³ The authors suspect the increased number of dogs due to the growing human population increases the number of direct interactions with sea lions while they rest on the beach. Another study from 2015 suggested that "widespread mass vaccination of domestic dogs reduced the probability of infection in dogs and the size

of outbreaks but did not prevent transmission to or peaks of infection in lions."¹¹⁴ Prager et. al. came to the same conclusion in the case of African wild dogs, that "control of disease in domestic dogs may be insufficient to reduce transmission risks, and vaccination of wild dogs themselves may be the optimal strategy."¹¹⁵

Despite widespread use of vaccines in dogs, CDV remains an emerging pathogen with a global distribution, not only among dogs but also among wild carnivores.¹¹⁶ CDV is recognized by some as "the most important worldwide infectious disease of domestic dogs."³⁹ Given the logistic challenges of conducting vaccine studies in free-ranging wildlife and the ethical challenges of conducting vaccine studies in collection animals, developing a safe and effective vaccine for CDV in wildlife might not be feasible. Instead, a better approach could be to understand how new CDV strains evolve and spillover into new hosts, thus guiding strategies to mitigate the risk CDV poses to wildlife.

Cross-species transmission dynamics

Historically, domestic dogs were considered a primary reservoir host for CDV. Today, CDV is considered a multi-host generalist pathogen that seems to be maintained in a network of smaller patches of susceptible hosts connected as a metapopulation.¹¹⁷ As Almberg et. al. explains, CDV among wolves in Yellowstone cannot be maintained without other reservoir hosts and that "multi-host transmission is likely an essential evolutionary strategy for the long term persistence of CDV among its low-density carnivore hosts."¹¹⁷ In some cases, the metapopulation may consist of both wildlife and domestic dogs. For example, Prager et. al. notes that "CDV in Northern Kenya may be maintained through the interaction of multiple subpopulations, each experiencing intermittent but non-simultaneous CDV epizootics composed of a single species, such as domestic dogs or some wild carnivore species such as jackals, or a combination of wild and/or domestic species."¹¹⁸ Transmission may occur at kills, for example, where CDV infected individuals congregate and interact with diverse species.¹¹⁹ In other cases, raccoons seem to be the reservoir host that drives outbreaks, including

spillback into dogs. For example, Rentería-Solís et. al. implicated raccoons as the origin of a 2013 outbreak in Berlin, Germany that drove interspecies transmission of CDV and Riley et. al. suggest that raccoons are the stable reservoir of CDV driving emergence of a novel strain of CDV among domestic dogs in the United States.^{77,120} Still others contend domestic dogs continue to play a leading role in CDV transmission dynamics, especially in parts of the world with large populations of unvaccinated stray dogs, such as Mexico and Brazil.^{121,122} Kapil et. al. note, "the spread and incidences of CDV epidemics in dogs and wildlife here and worldwide are increasing due to the rise in dog populations associated with growing human populations and widespread urbanization.⁶⁰ It is likely that all of these scenarios are true, and highlight the complex and variable ecology underlying the epidemiology of this disease.

More virus genome sequences are required to better understand the ecological dynamics of CDV.^{123,124} However, while CDV has a broad host range, is prevalent among urban carnivores and freeroaming dogs, and has caused numerous outbreaks in diverse species, the available sequence data (e.g., in GenBank) is skewed heavily towards short fragments (rather than full genomes) and relatively few species. Snippets of CDV sequences exist for diverse species, but the majority of full-length CDV sequences, which are essential for understanding CDV evolution and cross-transmission, are comprised of only three species - domestic dogs, red foxes, and raccoons (Figure 10).^{123,124} Indeed, we looked at the number of full-length, wildtype CDV genomes in GenBank to determine which host species were represented. Of the 164 full-length, wildtype CDV genomes we found in GenBank, 46 came from dogs, 26 came from red foxes, 15 came from raccoons. An additional 11 CDV genome sequences came from Asiatic lions and 11 came from African lions. The rest of the 55 CDV genomes came from animals representing 31 species. Overall, the skewed distribution of full-length CDV genomes in GenBank could reflect ease of sampling (domestic dogs, especially, are readily sampled, and in urban areas red foxes and raccoons may also be relatively accessible), increased sampling effort during outbreaks of charismatic endangered species (Asiatic and African lions), or species of economic importance (mink). A

more systematic approach to sampling of other species, especially urban carnivores such as coyotes, gray foxes, and striped skunks, which have shown high CDV seroprevalence rates in some areas and may be relatively accessible, could enable a more complete understanding of CDV transmission dynamics among wildlife in distinct ecosystems.



is skewed towards domestic dogs, red foxes, and raccoons. See also Figure 7 for distribution of sequences by country.

Summary

Key finding: CDV is readily shared by different host species and likely maintained in a metapopulation. *Gap*: CDV genomes in GenBank are biased toward domestic dogs, red foxes, and raccoons, which limits our understanding of the ecology and evolution of CDV, including the viral, host, and environmental factors shaping CDV distribution and the molecular mechanisms underlying cross-species transmission. *Future research directions:* The transmission dynamics of CDV among wildlife are not always fully understood and could include a complex interplay of viral, host, and environmental factors.⁸³ Viral factors such as genetic diversity of CDV strains or molecular adaptations to particular species could enable outbreaks among domestic and wild populations.¹ Host factors could include differences in cellular receptors, or weakened immune systems caused by stress or poor nutrition that render an animal more susceptible to disease. Environmental factors could include habitat fragmentation and climate change that work synergistically to alter patterns of animal movement, for instance, by limiting water sources and driving animals into greater contact with each other where pathogens are more easily exchanged. More comprehensive sampling of diverse wildlife species is needed to better understand CDV transmission dynamics in different ecosystems. Surveillance efforts could focus on animals that tend to live in high densities at interfaces that may facilitate cross-species transmission of CDV, such as urban wildlife (raccoons, coyotes, and foxes) and domestic animals. For example, surveillance programs could be established at wildlife rehabilitation centers and local animal shelters to screen urban carnivores and domestic dogs, respectively, for CDV. By sampling diverse hosts that are connected by space and time, we could reveal epidemiologically relevant patterns that may contribute to CDV transmission dynamics. Ongoing surveillance could reveal changes in viral genomes over time and how the virus is moving between domestic animals and wildlife, thereby potentially guiding strategies to mitigate CDV outbreaks in wildlife.

Signatures of adaptation

Given its role in host cell tropism, the H protein has largely been the focus of studies into molecular adaptations of CDV to new host species. One notable signature of adaptation is amino acid position 549 of the H protein, which is located within the SLAM receptor binding site.¹²⁵ There are patterns of particular amino acids at position 549 that seem to align with particular species. For example, tyrosine (Y) at residue 549 is often, but not always, associated with CDV isolates from domestic dogs, whereas histidine (H) at residue 549 is often, but not always, associated with CDV isolates from wild species. This has led some to hypothesize that the amino acid substitution Y549H may have driven adaptation of CDV from dogs to wildlife.^{126,127} In this scenario, H at position 549 represents the virus in a domestic cycle among dogs and T at position 549 represents the virus in a sylvatic cycle among wildlife (Figure 11).



Nikolin et. al. suggest Y549H underlies a functional change that enables CDV to be a specialist pathogen in dogs and a generalist pathogen in wildlife.¹²⁸ Nikolin et. al. showed in vitro that CDV expressing tyrosine at position 549 in the H protein efficiently infected cells expressing SLAM from domestic dogs but was less efficient at infecting cells expressing SLAM from lions. Conversely, CDV expressing a histidine at position 549 in the H protein could infect both cells expressing SLAM from lions and dogs marginally well, but was unable to infect either as efficiently as CDV strains with tyrosine.¹²⁸ The authors conclude that a histidine at position 549 seemed to produce a generalist virus that decently infected cells expressing dog SLAM and cells expressing cat SLAM, whereas a tyrosine at position 549 seemed to produce a specialist virus that was very good at infecting cells expressing dog SLAM but poor at infecting cells expressing cat SLAM. Perhaps this is a fitness tradeoff in which Y549H represents a generalist strain of CDV that can infect diverse wildlife hosts reasonably well compared to CDV strains that specialize one host - domestic dogs. More research is needed to build on these results and determine if antagonistic pleiotropy plays a role in CDV biology among wildlife.

Summary

Key finding: Given its role in recognizing host cell receptors, researchers have focused on residues within the H protein that may be more often associated with certain host species. A tyrosine at residue 549 is often associated with CDV isolates from domestic dogs and may represent a specialist pathogen, whereas histidine at residue 549 is often associated with wildlife and may represent a generalist pathogen.

Gaps: The H protein plays a key role in host cell tropism, but focusing entirely on H is a biased approach. Assessing mutations across the entire CDV genome may provide deeper insight into potential patterns of adaptation to diverse hosts.

Future research directions: We suggest all CDV proteins be considered for studies looking at signatures of selection. It would be interesting to compare patterns of selection between genes but also between host species and geographic locations. It would be important to look at individual sites (amino acids under selection) but also to consider branch tests for selection to see whether a site under selection belongs to a particular lineage. Identifying sites under positive selection can be informative for multiple reasons, including identifying amino acid residues of functional significance for virus host interactions. We would expect to see strong signatures of positive selection in sites that define particular virus host interactions, such as H binding to host cell receptors.

Original contribution 2: Evaluation of all sites under positive selection

To stimulate new research directions, we conducted an initial study to compare patterns of selection across CDV genes. Many groups have looked for molecular signatures of CDV adaptation.^{28,129} A common approach to identifying signatures of viral adaptation is to compare selection pressure at each site within a sequence alignment by estimating rates of nonsynonymous and synonymous changes. Sites with a ratio of nonsynonymous to synonymous changes > 1 are considered sites under positive selection, meaning natural selection tends to favor genetic variants. Genetic diversity could be

advantageous for proteins recognized by the immune system, for example. Most sites within the CDV genome are under negative selection, as expected, because negative selection acts to preserve the amino acid sequence.⁸³ Preserving protein structure and function is critical and most mutations will be deleterious. However, certain changes at certain sites can induce strong phenotypic shifts that confer a particular fitness advantage.

One finding from the literature review is that key residues in H protein and F protein are under positive selection. However, the selective pressure shaping other CDV proteins are less well understood. Given its role in binding host cell receptors and thus determining host cell tropism, the H protein has largely been the focus of molecular adaptations to new host species, particularly at amino acid position 549 which is located within the SLAM receptor binding site.¹²⁵ In 2007, McCarthy et. al. first identified positions 530 and 549, both within the SLAM binding region of the H protein, as sites under positive selection.¹²⁵ Since then, other groups have looked for evidence of positive selection in CDV as well. In 2019, Duque-Valencia et. al. found evidence of positive selection at sites 522, 549, and 582 in the H protein and nine sites within the F protein.⁸² In 2021, da Costa et. al. found evidence of positive selection at 14 sites within the H protein and 18 sites within the F protein.¹²⁹ Though detecting selection is heavily influenced by sequence and method choice, the H and F proteins are consistently identified. Positive selection within the H and F proteins is expected, since these proteins are recognized by the host immune response and are the target of neutralizing antibodies. Despite the focus on H and F, little is known about signatures of positive selection in other genes. While these other genes may not be the target of neutralizing antibodies, they nonetheless interact with host-cell proteins during viral replication and may experience different selective pressures in different hosts or cells. Thus, identifying sites under positive selection in all genes can help reveal more about the basic biology of this virus and the forces shaping their structure and function.

To determine whether other genes besides H and F were also under positive selection, we used

a set of full-length, wildtype CDV sequences from GenBank to enable cross-gene comparisons. Using two models of selection, we found evidence of positive at the H, F, and P genes. In addition, selective pressures may differ between host species – this is an area that has not been deeply researched in the literature. Therefore, we also evaluated selection pressure in CDV from different species. Our results suggest selection pressure differs by host species. We recommend future studies include full-length CDV genomes and comparison of selective pressure across all genes and different host species.

Materials and Methods

Dataset: We searched GenBank (NCBI) taxonomy browser for sequences assigned to the species *Morbillivirus canis*, which yielded 3,255 entries (March 2023). We then limited the search to entries with 15,000 – 16,000 base pairs to include only full or nearly full length CDV genomes, which provided 232 total sequences. Because we are interested in wildtype CDV genomes under selective pressure in nature, any sequences that had been passaged in a laboratory setting or used in a vaccine strain of CDV were excluded. Sequences without host data were also excluded. Our final set of full-length, wildtype CDV genomes was 119 sequences from wildlife species and 46 sequences from domestic dogs (Appendices 1 and 2). We limited our analyses to full-length, wildtype CDV as the majority of studies to date have focused on single genes and we wanted to compare variation in genetic patterns across genes for a consistent set of sequences.

<u>Genetic analyses:</u> Sequences were aligned by each coding region in Geneious and exported to Datamonkey for analysis of sites under positive episodic selection. We tested two models of selection – MEME and FUBAR, both of which look for evidence of selection by site. MEME (Mixed Effects Model of Evolution) employs a mixed-effects maximum likelihood approach to test the hypothesis that individual sites have been subject to episodic positive or diversifying selection.¹³⁰ MEME aims to detect sites evolving under positive selection under a proportion of branches. FUBAR (Fast, Unconstrained Bayesian AppRoximation) uses a Bayesian approach to infer nonsynoymous (dN)

and synonymous (dS) substitution rates on a per-site basis for a given coding alignment and corresponding phylogeny.¹³¹ This method assumes that the selection pressure for each site is constant along the entire phylogeny.

Results

Among all host species (wildlife species and domestic dogs combined), MEME identified H, F, and P as the genes with the highest proportion of residues under positive selection, whereas FUBAR is more conservative and identified F and P with the highest proportion of residues under positive selection (Tables 1 and 2). While previous studies have highlighted the selection for H and F, our study also shows the importance of sites within P as targets of selection.

All hosts – MEME			
Coding sequence	# of sites under positive selection	Total number of sites	Percent of sites under positive selection
Ν	4	523	0.8
Р	17	507	3.4
Μ	5	335	1.5
F	28	662	4.2
Н	12	608	2.0
L	15	2184	0.7
Table 1.			

All hosts – FUBAR			
Coding sequence	# of sites under positive selection	Total number of sites	Percent of sites under positive selection
Ν	0	523	0.0
Р	14	507	2.8
Μ	0	335	0.0
F	9	662	1.4
Н	1	608	0.2
L	0	2184	0.0
Table 2.			

Both models identified 13 residues (48, 72, 86, 90, 101, 102, 106, 143, 148, 201, 237, 249, 296) within

the P amino acid sequence, 9 residues (3, 12, 51, 59, 64, 72, 87, 93, 105) within the F amino acid

sequence, and 1 residue (549) within the H amino acid sequence as sites under positive selection. As P overlaps with both C and V, we mapped the sites under positive selection to assess how these sites were distributed. Interestingly, all positively selected sites within the P fall within the V or C coding region (Figure 12); they are not evenly distributed along the full-length of P.

1 1,801	100 1,900	200 2,000	300 2,100	400 2,200	500 2,300	600 2,400	700 2,500	800 2,600	900 2,700	1,000 2,800	1,100 2,900	1,200 3,000	1,300 3,100	1,400 3,200	1,524 3,324
							P	CDS							
			C CDS	V CDS	;										
))	F) (1)))))))						
Fig	Figure 12. Image showing the positions of 13 amino acid residues within the P gene identified by both														

MEME and FUBAR. Interestingly, each of these 13 amino acid residues fall within either V coding region (899 base pairs) or C coding region (525 base pairs). They are not evenly distributed across the length of P, suggesting selection may be driven by C or V, rather than P.

Discussion

Evolutionary studies may provide insight into viral adaptations and differences in the forces shaping viral genomes. By limiting our analyses to the H and F gene only, we may be limiting our understanding of selection pressures on CDV. We analyzed full-length, wildtype CDV genomes and found evidence of positive selection in the H, F, and P proteins. Since partitioning by domestic dogs, raccoons, and foxes yields different results compared to the sites identified when all species are group together, this could suggest there are species-specific patterns of selection. Future studies should analyze positive selection data with and without partitioning by species to note any differences.

Most studies to date have focused on the H and F proteins. The H gene encodes hemagglutinin, which is responsible for attachment to host cell receptors. The F gene encodes the fusion protein, which is responsible for fusing the virion to the host cell following attachment to enable entry. Both the H protein and the F protein generate neutralizing antibodies, so it is possible that the H and F proteins are under diversifying positive selection given pressure from the host's immune system. We also found evidence of positive selection at residues within the P protein. The P gene encodes the phosphoprotein that helps stabilize the polymerase during transcription, but it also is the location where two nunstructural proteins, C and V, are encoded sub-genomically and expressed through translation of alternative start sites. The C and V proteins are involved with immune evasion and virulence. Therefore, it is plausible that the P protein is also under diversifying positive selection by the immune system, since it produces two proteins that are involved with immune evasion. The sites we identified fall within either the C or V coding regions (our analysis could not resolve between them).

Though CDV is an ideal candidate for studying viral adaptation to new host species, biases in the data may be limiting our ability to make broad interpretations, thus obfuscating larger patterns in CDV distribution and adaptation. The literature focuses on the H and F proteins as targets of natural selection; however, we also present evidence that suggests C and V are also under positive selection. Looking beyond the H and F proteins for molecular signatures of natural selection could provide better insight into the dynamics of CDV evolution. We also recommend partitioning by species to determine if sites under positive selection show differences by species.

Conclusion

CDV has been extensively studied in dogs, but gaps and biases remain in our understanding of CDV in wildlife. Based on a phylogenetic tree of morbilliviruses, it is clear more viruses have yet to be identified and our understanding of genetic diversity is incomplete. Sampling biases exist, as well, with full-length wildtype CDV genomes in GenBank from a few species - dogs, red foxes, and raccoons – and from a few locations - China, USA, Hungary, and Tanzania. Studies on selection pressure are also skewed towards the hemagglutinin protein, which is undoubtedly important in determining host specificity, but likely not the only protein under selective pressure or contributing to complex transmission dynamics. More research is needed to understand CDV evolution within a host, including its transition from SLAM to nectin-4, as well as its ability to invade the central nervous system, and CDV evolution between hosts, including how the virus readily crosses species barriers. As with all good questions in biology, it seems

the more we learn the more we do not know.

We recommend future research should include sampling from diverse species and diverse locations, as well as analyzing all CDV genes and the proteins they encode. Such a holistic approach could provide greater insight into CDV biology. The lessons we learn about CDV may extend to morbilliviruses more broadly. CDV should be studied not only to protect wildlife but also to understand its potential as a zoonotic pathogen. Appendices

Appendix number and title	Pages
Appendix 1: Abbexa's lateral flow assay instructions for use	45-46
Appendix 2: List of full-length CDV genomes from wildlife species	47-49
Appendix 3: List of full-length CDV genomes from domestic dogs	50-51

Appendix 1: Abbexa's lateral flow diagnostic instructions for use.

Instructions for Use Version: 2.0.1 Revision date: 28-Jan-22

abbexa 🔶

Canine Distemper Virus Antigen Rapid Test Kit

Catalog No.: abx092034

Size: 40 tests

Storage: Store all reagents at 2-30 °C. Keep dry.

Application: For qualitative detection of Canine Distemper Virus Antigen in Dog serum, urine, nasal fluid, saliva and conjunctival secretions.

Introduction and assay principle

Abbexa's Canine Distemper Virus Antigen Rapid Test Kit is a qualitative lateral flow immunochromatographic assay for the detection of Canine Distemper Virus (CDV) Antigen in dog (canine) samples. The cassette contains a colloidal gold conjugated antibody against CDV, which combines with any CDV antigen present in the samples. The complex binds with the antibody coated on the test region of the cassette. A colored band develops within 15 minutes in the test region if the concentration of CDV antigen in the sample is higher than the detection limit. A control region on the upper end of the cassette confirms if the test has been successful.

Timer

Kit Components

Material Required But Not Provided

- Test cassettes with pipettes: 40
- Sample diluent: 40 vials
- Cotton swabs: 1 pack

Sample preparation

- Nasal fluid, saliva and conjunctival secretions: Collect the sample using a cotton swab. Immediately insert the cotton swab into a Sample Diluent vial. Stir until the sample has completely dissolved. Wipe the swab against the inside of the tube, then discard the swab. Allow the mixture to stand.
- Serum and urine: Add 4-5 drops (approximately 100 µl) into a Sample Diluent vial. Mix fully, then
 allow the mixture to stand.

Note: In the initial stage of CDV infection, there are no symptoms such as conjunctivitis, dry cough, and diarrhea. It is therefore recommended to test blood (serum) samples if the animal is not displaying any CDV infection symptoms. If symptoms typical of CDV infection are present, it is more convenient to take conjunctival epithelial cells or urine as the sample.

Abbexa UK • Abbexa US • Abbexa NL www.abbexa.com • info@abbexa.com



Assay procedure

- Take a test cassette and lay it flat on a clean table. Using the provided pipette, add 2-3 drops (approximately 60 μl) of prepared sample to the sample well on the test cassette. Avoid touching the membrane in the middle of the sample well, and avoid foaming.
- 2. Leave at room temperature for 5-10 min, then analyze the result immediately.

Results analysis

- Negative result: A line is observed in the control (C) section but not the test (T) section.
- Positive result: A line is observed in both the control (C) section and the test (T) section.
- Invalid result: No line is observed in the control (C) section.



Notes

- The test cassettes and reagents should be brought to room temperature for at least 30 minutes before use.
- 2. After opening the aluminum foil, use the test cassette as soon as possible.
- 3. Samples should be clear with no visible particles, turbidity or bacterial pollution.
- 4. Do not mix or re-use the disposable pipettes to avoid cross-contamination.
- 5. Do not use water, PBS or serum from other animals as the negative control.
- 6. Avoid touching the cassette membrane through the sample well or test result window.
- 7. This kit is for qualitative detection of CDV antigen in dog (canine) samples.
- Samples from animals taken 3-10 days after being vaccinated against CDV may show a positive result, as attenuated CDV vaccines can cause CDV antigen concentrations to increase in animals.
- Samples from animals treated with monoclonal antibodies may exhibit false-positive results, as these
 animals generate anti-monoclonal antibodies which may interfere with the assay.
- This kit is for research use only and the results are for reference only. It is recommended to use this kit in conjunction with another detection method.

Abbexa UK • Abbexa US • Abbexa NL www.abbexa.com • info@abbexa.com 2

Accession	Country	Host (common name)	Collection date
AB687720	Japan	Cynomolgus macaque (lab animal from China)	2008
AB687721	Japan	Cynomolgus macaque (lab animal from China)	2008
AY443350	USA	Raccoon	2000
AY445077	USA	Raccoon	1998
AY466011	USA	Raccoon	1998
AY542312	USA	Raccoon	1998
AY649446	USA	Raccoon	2001
HM046486	Caspian Sea	Caspian seal	2007
HM063009	Kazakhstan	Mink	1989
HM852904	China	Rhesus macaque (lab animal)	2008
HQ540293	China	Fox	2006
JX681125	China	Fox	2006
KC427278	China	Mink	2008
KF856711	China	Monkey	2006
KJ466106	China	Raccoon dog	2012
KJ747371	USA	Red fox	2011-2013
KJ848781	China	Raccoon dog	2014
KM926612	China	Polecat	1992
KP677502	China	Giant panda	2015
KP738610	China	Raccoon dog	2014
KP765763	China	Red fox	2014
KP769803	China	Giant panda	2014
KP793921	China	Giant panda	2014
KU578253	Serengeti	African wild dog	2007
KU578254	Serengeti	Golden jackal	2011
KU578255	Serengeti	Spotted hyena	1994
KU578256	Serengeti	African lion	1994
KU666057	USA	Raccoon	2012
KX499865	China	Red fox	2015
KX774415	Russia	Siberian tiger	2004
KY971528	South Africa	African wild dog	2016
KY971532	South Africa	Spotted hyena	2017
LC342298	Japan	Raccoon	2016
MF041963	Ethiopia	Ethiopian wolf	2016
MH316137	Russia	Siberian tiger	2004
MH337872	China	Fox	2016
MH426739	Brazil	Crab-eating fox	2014
MK037459	India	Asiatic lion	2018
MK037460	India	Asiatic lion	2018
MK037461	India	Asiatic lion	2018
MK037462	India	Asiatic lion (cub)	2018

Appendix 2: List of full-length CDV genomes from wildlife species.

MK037463	India	Asiatic lion (cub)	2018
MK037464	India	Asiatic lion	2018
MK037465	India	Asiatic lion	2018
MK037466	India	Asiatic lion	2018
MK037467	India	Asiatic lion	2018
MK037468	India	Asiatic lion	2018
MK037469	India	Asiatic lion	2018
MK408453	China	Mink	2017
MK408454	China	Mink	2017
MN267060	Germany	Raccoon	2015
MN267061	Germany	Red fox	2016
MN267062	Germany	Raccoon	2015
MN267063	Baikal Sea	Baikal seal	1988
MN267064	Caspian Sea	Caspian seal	2000
MN267065	Caspian Sea	Caspian seal	2000
MN267066	Caspian Sea	Caspian seal	2000
MN326827	China	American mink	2013
MN824467	USA	Raccoon	2018
MT136705	Tanzania	Spotted hyena (subadult)	1993
MT136706	Tanzania	Spotted hyena (subadult)	1993
MT136707	Tanzania	Spotted hyena (cub)	1994
MT136708	Tanzania	Spotted hyena (cub)	1994
MT136709	Tanzania	Spotted hyena (cub)	1994
MT136710	Tanzania	Spotted hyena (fetus)	1994
MT136714	Tanzania	Bat-eared fox	1994
MT136715	Tanzania	Bat-eared fox	1994
MT136716	Tanzania	African lion (subadult)	1994
MT136717	Tanzania	African lion (adult)	1994
MT136718	Tanzania	African lion (adult)	1994
MT136719	Tanzania	African lion (subadult)	1994
MT136720	Tanzania	African lion (cub)	1994
MT136721	Tanzania	African lion (cub)	1994
MT136722	Tanzania	African lion (subadult)	1994
MT136723	Tanzania	African lion (cub)	1994
MT136724	Tanzania	African lion (subadult)	1994
MT136725	Tanzania	African lion (adult)	1994
MT448054	China	Masked civet	2019
MT932492	Tanzania	Jackal species	2006
MT932493	Kenya	Black-backed jackal	2000
MT932501	Kenya	Black-backed jackal	2000
MT932502	Kenya	Black-backed jackal	2000
MT932503	Tanzania	African wild dog	2007
MT932504	USA	African lion (big cat rescue facility)	1992

MT932505	USA	Raccoon	1992
MT932506	USA	Raccoon	2013
MT932507	USA	Gray fox	2013
MT932508	USA	Raccoon	2013
MT932509	USA	Raccoon	2013
MT932510	USA	Raccoon	2013
MT932511	USA	Common leopard	1992
MW535267	China	Red panda	2018
MW535268	China	Red panda	2019
MW876862	India	Indian Jackal	2019
OK557779	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557780	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557781	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557782	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557783	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557784	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557785	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557786	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557787	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557788	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557789	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557790	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557791	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557792	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557793	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557794	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557795	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557796	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OK557797	Hungary	Red fox	2021
OM811640	Hungary	Eurasian otter	2006
OP209185	Hungary	Steppe polecat	2021
OP209186	Hungary	Steppe polecat	2018
OP209187	Hungary	European polecat	2019
OP209188	Hungary	Stone marten	2020
OP209189	Hungary	Stone marten	2007

Accession	Country	Host (common name)	Collection date
MF437053	Gabon	Domestic dog	2015
MH496772	Thailand	Domestic dog	2014
MH496773	Thailand	Domestic dog	2014
MH496774	Thailand	Domestic dog	2014
MH496775	Thailand	Domestic dog	2014
MH496776	Thailand	Domestic dog	2014
MH496777	Thailand	Domestic dog	2014
MH496778	Thailand	Domestic dog	2014
MH496779	Thailand	Domestic dog	2014
MH484613	Brazil	Domestic dog	2017
MT012803	Colombia	Domestic dog	2017
MT012802	Colombia	Domestic dog	2012
OL675426	China	Domestic dog	2020
MW713449	China	Domestic dog	2019
MW980440	China	Domestic dog	2020
MW600730	China	Domestic dog	2020
MW460905	Brazil	Domestic dog	2019
MT932500	Kenya	Domestic dog	2000
MT932499	Kenya	Domestic dog	2000
MT932498	USA	Domestic dog	2012
MT932497	USA	Domestic dog	2013
MT932496	USA	Domestic dog	2013
MT932495	USA	Domestic dog	2013
MT932494	USA	Domestic dog	2013
MT932491	USA	Domestic dog	2013
MN296413	China	Domestic dog	2011
MN365662	Argentina	Domestic dog	2005
MT136713	Tanzania	Domestic dog	1994
MT136712	Tanzania	Domestic dog	1994
MT136711	Tanzania	Domestic dog	1994
LC159587	Vietnam	Domestic dog	2014
MK431532	Taiwan	Domestic dog	2005
MF926604	China	Domestic dog	2017
MF926603	China	Domestic dog	2017
MF926602	China	Domestic dog	2016
MF926601	China	Domestic dog	2016
MF926600	China	Domestic dog	2016
MF926599	China	Domestic dog	2016
MF926597	China	Domestic dog	2016
KU578257	Serengeti	Domestic dog	1994
KX347928	China	Domestic dog	2015

Appendix 3: List of full-length CDV genomes from domestic dogs.

KJ747372	USA	Domestic dog	2011 - 2013
KM280689	Uruguay	Domestic dog	2012
KJ123771	USA	Domestic dog	2004
HQ540292	China	Domestic dog	2007
EU716337	USA	Domestic dog	2004

References

- Beineke, A., Baumgärtner, W. & Wohlsein, P. Cross-species transmission of canine distemper virus an update. *One Health* 1, 49–59 (2015).
- 2. Martinez-Gutierrez, M. & Ruiz-Saenz, J. Diversity of susceptible hosts in canine distemper virus infection: a systematic review and data synthesis. *BMC Vet. Res.* **12**, 78 (2016).
- Quintero-Gil, C., Rendon-Marin, S., Martinez-Gutierrez, M. & Ruiz-Saenz, J. Origin of Canine Distemper Virus: Consolidating Evidence to Understand Potential Zoonoses. *Front. Microbiol.* 10, 1982 (2019).
- 4. Jenner, E. Observations on the Distemper in Dogs. *Medico-Chir. Trans.* 1, 265–270 (1809).
- Sawatsky, B., Cattaneo, R. & von Messling, V. Canine Distemper Virus Spread and Transmission to Naive Ferrets: Selective Pressure on Signaling Lymphocyte Activation Molecule-Dependent Entry. J. Virol. 92, e00669-18 (2018).
- Guerra, F. M. *et al.* The basic reproduction number (R 0) of measles: a systematic review. *Lancet Infect. Dis.* **17**, e420–e428 (2017).
- 7. International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV): https://ictv.global/taxonomy/.
- Wells, H. *et al.* Classification of new morbillivirus and jeilongvirus sequences from bats sampled in Brazil and Malaysia. *Arch. Virol.* 167, 1–11 (2022).
- Lee, B. et al. Zoonotic potential of a novel bat morbillivirus.
 https://www.researchsquare.com/article/rs-926789/v1 (2021) doi:10.21203/rs.3.rs-926789/v1.
- 10. Roeder, P., Mariner, J. & Kock, R. Rinderpest: the veterinary perspective on eradication. *Philos. Trans. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **368**, 20120139 (2013).
- 11. No more deaths from rinderpest. https://www.fao.org/news/story/en/item/79335/icode/ (2011).
- Barrett, T. *et al.* Dolphin and Porpoise Morbilliviruses Are Genetically Distinct from Phocine Distemper Virus. *Virology* **193**, 1010–1012 (1993).

- De Vries, R. D., Verburgh, R. J., Van De Bildt, M. W. G., Osterhaus, A. D. M. E. & De Swart, R. L.
 Complete Genome Sequence of Phocine Distemper Virus Isolated from a Harbor Seal (*Phoca vitulina*) during the 1988 North Sea Epidemic. *Genome Announc.* 1, e00291-13 (2013).
- 14. Choi, E. J., Ortega, V. & Aguilar, H. C. Feline Morbillivirus, a New Paramyxovirus Possibly Associated with Feline Kidney Disease. *Viruses* **12**, 501 (2020).
- 15. Furuse, Y., Suzuki, A. & Oshitani, H. Origin of measles virus: divergence from rinderpest virus between the 11th and 12th centuries. *Virol. J.* **7**, 52 (2010).
- Düx, A. *et al.* Measles virus and rinderpest virus divergence dated to the sixth century BCE. *Science* 368, 1367–1370 (2020).
- Uhl, E. W. *et al.* New world origin of canine distemper: Interdisciplinary insights. *Int. J. Paleopathol.* 24, 266–278 (2019).
- Panzera, Y., Sarute, N., Iraola, G., Hernández, M. & Pérez, R. Molecular phylogeography of canine distemper virus: Geographic origin and global spreading. *Mol. Phylogenet. Evol.* 92, 147–154 (2015).
- 19. Stokholm, I. *et al.* Emergence and radiation of distemper viruses in terrestrial and marine mammals. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **288**, 20211969 (2021).
- 20. Paramyxoviridae. in *Fenner's Veterinary Virology* 299–325 (Elsevier, 2011). doi:10.1016/B978-0-12-375158-4.00017-1.
- Patterson, J. B., Thomas, D., Lewicki, H., Billeter, M. A. & Oldstone, M. B. A. V and C Proteins of Measles Virus Function as Virulence Factors in Vivo. *Virology* 267, 80–89 (2000).
- 22. Baron, M. D. & Barrett, T. Rinderpest Viruses Lacking the C and V Proteins Show Specific Defects in Growth and Transcription of Viral RNAs. *J. Virol.* **74**, 2603–2611 (2000).
- 23. Chinnakannan, S. K., Nanda, S. K. & Baron, M. D. Morbillivirus V Proteins Exhibit Multiple Mechanisms to Block Type 1 and Type 2 Interferon Signalling Pathways. *PLoS ONE* **8**, e57063 (2013).

- 24. Siering, O., Sawatsky, B. & Pfaller, C. K. C Protein Is Essential for Canine Distemper Virus Virulence and Pathogenicity in Ferrets. *J. Virol.* **95**, e01840-20 (2021).
- 25. Nakatsu, Y. *et al.* Measles Virus Circumvents the Host Interferon Response by Different Actions of the C and V Proteins. *J. Virol.* **82**, 8296–8306 (2008).
- 26. Pfeffermann, K., Dörr, M., Zirkel, F. & von Messling, V. Morbillivirus Pathogenesis and Virus–Host Interactions. in *Advances in Virus Research* vol. 100 75–98 (Elsevier, 2018).
- Kolakofsky, D. *et al.* Paramyxovirus RNA Synthesis and the Requirement for Hexamer Genome Length: the Rule of Six Revisited. *J. Virol.* **72**, 891–899 (1998).
- Ke, G.-M. *et al.* Phylodynamic analysis of the canine distemper virus hemagglutinin gene. *BMC Vet. Res.* **11**, 164 (2015).
- 29. Ader-Ebert, N. *et al.* Sequential Conformational Changes in the Morbillivirus Attachment Protein Initiate the Membrane Fusion Process. *PLOS Pathog.* **11**, e1004880 (2015).
- 30. Sourimant, J. & Plemper, R. Organization, Function, and Therapeutic Targeting of the Morbillivirus RNA-Dependent RNA Polymerase Complex. *Viruses* **8**, 251 (2016).
- 31. El Najjar, F., Schmitt, A. & Dutch, R. Paramyxovirus Glycoprotein Incorporation, Assembly and Budding: A Three Way Dance for Infectious Particle Production. *Viruses* **6**, 3019–3054 (2014).
- 32. Takeda, M., Tahara, M., Nagata, N. & Seki, F. Wild-Type Measles Virus is Intrinsically Dual-Tropic. *Front. Microbiol.* **2**, (2012).
- 33. Beineke, A., Puff, C., Seehusen, F. & Baumgärtner, W. Pathogenesis and immunopathology of systemic and nervous canine distemper. *Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol.* **127**, 1–18 (2009).
- 34. Rendon-Marin, S., da Fontoura Budaszewski, R., Canal, C. W. & Ruiz-Saenz, J. Tropism and molecular pathogenesis of canine distemper virus. *Virol. J.* **16**, 30 (2019).

- Sawatsky, B., Cattaneo, R. & von Messling, V. Canine Distemper Virus Spread and Transmission to Naive Ferrets: Selective Pressure on Signaling Lymphocyte Activation Molecule-Dependent Entry. J. Virol. 92, e00669-18 (2018).
- Leonard, V. H. J. *et al.* Measles virus blind to its epithelial cell receptor remains virulent in rhesus monkeys but cannot cross the airway epithelium and is not shed. *J. Clin. Invest.* JCI35454 (2008) doi:10.1172/JCI35454.
- 37. Ikegame, S. *et al.* Metagenomics-enabled reverse-genetics assembly and characterization of myotis bat morbillivirus. *Nat. Microbiol.* (2023) doi:10.1038/s41564-023-01380-4.
- 38. Donohue, R. C., Pfaller, C. K. & Cattaneo, R. Cyclical adaptation of measles virus quasispecies to epithelial and lymphocytic cells: To V, or not to V. *PLOS Pathog.* **15**, e1007605 (2019).
- 39. Deem, S. L., Spelman, L. H., Yates, R. A. & Montali, R. J. Canine distemper in terrestrial carnivores: a review. *J. Zoo Wildl. Med. Off. Publ. Am. Assoc. Zoo Vet.* **31**, 441–451 (2000).
- 40. Engelhardt, P., Wyder, M., Zurbriggen, A. & Gröne, A. Canine distemper virus associated proliferation of canine footpad keratinocytes in vitro. *Vet. Microbiol.* **107**, 1–12 (2005).
- 41. Lempp, C. *et al.* New Aspects of the Pathogenesis of Canine Distemper Leukoencephalitis. *Viruses* **6**, 2571–2601 (2014).
- 42. Rudd, P. A., Cattaneo, R. & Von Messling, V. Canine Distemper Virus Uses both the Anterograde and the Hematogenous Pathway for Neuroinvasion. *J. Virol.* **80**, 9361–9370 (2006).
- 43. Pratakpiriya, W. *et al.* Nectin4 Is an Epithelial Cell Receptor for Canine Distemper Virus and Involved in Neurovirulence. *J. Virol.* **86**, 10207–10210 (2012).
- 44. Pratakpiriya, W. *et al.* Expression of canine distemper virus receptor nectin-4 in the central nervous system of dogs. *Sci. Rep.* **7**, 349 (2017).

- Di Guardo, G., Giacominelli-Stuffler, R. & Mazzariol, S. Commentary: SLAM- and Nectin-4-Independent Noncytolytic Spread of Canine Distemper Virus in Astrocytes. *Front. Microbiol.* 7, (2016).
- 46. Maes, R. K. *et al.* A Canine Distemper Outbreak in Alaska: Diagnosis and Strain Characterization Using Sequence Analysis. *J. Vet. Diagn. Invest.* **15**, 213–220 (2003).
- 47. Fenner's Veterinary Virology. (Elsevier, 2017). doi:10.1016/C2013-0-06921-6.
- 48. Hoff, G. L., Bigler, W. J., Proctor, S. J. & Stallings, L. P. EPIZOOTIC OF CANINE DISTEMPER VIRUS INFECTION AMONG URBAN RACCOONS AND GRAY FOXES. *J. Wildl. Dis.* **10**, 423–428 (1974).
- 49. Roscoe, D. E. EPIZOOTIOLOGY OF CANINE DISTEMPER IN NEW JERSEY RACCOONS. J. Wildl. Dis. 29, 390–395 (1993).
- 50. Geiselhardt, F. *et al.* Neuropathologic and molecular aspects of a canine distemper epizootic in red foxes in Germany. *Sci. Rep.* **12**, 14691 (2022).
- 51. Hamir, A. N., Summers, B. A. & Rupprecht, C. E. Concurrent Rabies and Canine Distemper Encephalitis in a Raccoon (*Procyon Lotor*). *J. Vet. Diagn. Invest.* **10**, 194–196 (1998).
- 52. Origgi, F. C. *et al.* Emergence of Canine Distemper Virus Strains With Modified Molecular Signature and Enhanced Neuronal Tropism Leading to High Mortality in Wild Carnivores. *Vet. Pathol.* **49**, 913– 929 (2012).
- 53. Schubert, C. A., Barker, I. K., Rosatte, R. C., MacInnes, C. D. & Nudds, T. D. EFFECT OF CANINE DISTEMPER ON AN URBAN RACCOON POPULATION: AN EXPERIMENT. *Ecol. Appl.* **8**, 379–387 (1998).
- 54. Lednicky, J. A. *et al.* Genetically distant American Canine distemper virus lineages have recently caused epizootics with somewhat different characteristics in raccoons living around a large suburban zoo in the USA. *Virol. J.* **1**, 2 (2004).
- 55. Harris, S. N., Olfenbuttel, C. & Jachowski, David. S. Canine Distemper Outbreak in a Population of Eastern Spotted Skunks. *Southeast. Nat.* **20**, (2021).

- 56. Cornell Wildlife Health Lab. https://cwhl.vet.cornell.edu/.
- 57. Zhao, J. *et al.* Pathogenesis of canine distemper virus in experimentally infected raccoon dogs, foxes, and minks. *Antiviral Res.* **122**, 1–11 (2015).
- 58. Garde, E., Pérez, G., Acosta-Jamett, G. & Bronsvoort, B. Characteristics of a Canine Distemper Virus Outbreak in Dichato, Chile Following the February 2010 Earthquake. *Animals* **3**, 843–854 (2013).
- 59. Oleaga, Á. *et al.* Canine distemper virus in wildlife in south-western Europe. *Transbound. Emerg. Dis.*69, (2022).
- 60. Kapil, S. & Yeary, T. J. Canine Distemper Spillover in Domestic Dogs from Urban Wildlife. *Vet. Clin. North Am. Small Anim. Pract.* **41**, 1069–1086 (2011).
- Peserico, A. *et al.* Diagnosis and characterization of canine distemper virus through sequencing by MinION nanopore technology. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 1714 (2019).
- 62. Nemeth, N. M., Oesterle, P. T., Campbell, G. D., Ojkic, D. & Jardine, C. M. Comparison of reversetranscription real-time PCR and immunohistochemistry for the detection of canine distemper virus infection in raccoons in Ontario, Canada. *J. Vet. Diagn. Invest.* **30**, 319–323 (2018).
- 63. Karki, M., Rajak, K. K. & Singh, R. P. Canine morbillivirus (CDV): a review on current status, emergence and the diagnostics. *VirusDisease* **33**, 309–321 (2022).
- Geiselhardt, F. *et al.* Development and Validation of a Pan-Genotypic Real-Time Quantitative Reverse Transcription-PCR Assay To Detect Canine Distemper Virus and Phocine Distemper Virus in Domestic Animals and Wildlife. *J. Clin. Microbiol.* **60**, e02505-21 (2022).
- 65. Lanszki, Z. *et al.* Complete genomic sequencing of canine distemper virus with nanopore technology during an epizootic event. *Sci. Rep.* **12**, 4116 (2022).
- 66. Tomaszewicz Brown, A. *et al.* Development and validation of a portable, point-of-care canine distemper virus qPCR test. *PLOS ONE* **15**, e0232044 (2020).

- 67. Karki, M. *et al.* Optimization of lateral flow assay for Canine morbillivirus detection and the application of the strip as sample substitute. *J. Immunol. Methods* **514**, 113438 (2023).
- 68. Cosby, S. L. & Weir, L. Measles vaccination: Threat from related veterinary viruses and need for continued vaccination post measles eradication. *Hum. Vaccines Immunother.* **14**, 229–233 (2018).
- 69. de Vries, R. D. *et al.* Measles Vaccination of Nonhuman Primates Provides Partial Protection against Infection with Canine Distemper Virus. *J. Virol.* **88**, 4423–4433 (2014).
- 70. Trebbien, R. *et al.* Wildlife Reservoirs of Canine Distemper Virus Resulted in a Major Outbreak in Danish Farmed Mink (Neovison vison). *PLoS ONE* **9**, e85598 (2014).
- Sakai, K. *et al.* Lethal Canine Distemper Virus Outbreak in Cynomolgus Monkeys in Japan in 2008. *J. Virol.* 87, 1105–1114 (2013).
- 72. Alexander, K. A. & Appel, M. J. G. AFRICAN WILD DOGS (LYCAON PICTUS) ENDANGERED BY A CANINE DISTEMPER EPIZOOTIC AMONG DOMESTIC DOGS NEAR THE MASAI MARA NATIONAL RESERVE, KENYA. J. Wildl. Dis. **30**, 481–485 (1994).
- 73. Haas, L. Canine distemper virus infection in Serengeti spotted hyaenas. *Vet. Microbiol.* 49, 147–152 (1996).
- 74. Williams, E. S., Thome, E. T., Appel, M. J. G. & Belitsky, D. W. CANINE DISTEMPER IN BLACK-FOOTED FERRETS (MUSTELA NIGRIPES) FROM WYOMING. J. Wildl. Dis. **24**, 385–398 (1988).
- 75. Fitzgerald, S. D. *et al.* GEOGRAPHIC SPREAD OF CANINE DISTEMPER IN WILD CARNIVORES IN MICHIGAN, USA: PATHOLOGY AND EPIDEMIOLOGY, 2008–18. *J. Wildl. Dis.* **58**, (2022).
- Halecker, S., Bock, S., Beer, M. & Hoffmann, B. A New Molecular Detection System for Canine Distemper Virus Based on a Double-Check Strategy. *Viruses* 13, 1632 (2021).
- 77. Riley, M. C. & Wilkes, R. P. Sequencing of emerging canine distemper virus strain reveals new distinct genetic lineage in the United States associated with disease in wildlife and domestic canine populations. *Virol. J.* **12**, 219 (2015).

- 78. Jacobson, R. H. Validation of serological assays for diagnosis of infectious diseases: -EN- -FR-Validation des épreuves sérologiques pour le diagnostic des maladies infectieuses -ES- Validación de pruebas serológicas para el diagnóstico de enfermedades infecciosas. *Rev. Sci. Tech. OIE* 17, 469– 526 (1998).
- 79. Greiner, M. & Gardner, I. A. Epidemiologic issues in the validation of veterinary diagnostic tests. *Prev. Vet. Med.* **45**, 3–22 (2000).
- Mochizuki, M., Hashimoto, M., Hagiwara, S., Yoshida, Y. & Ishiguro, S. Genotypes of Canine Distemper Virus Determined by Analysis of the Hemagglutinin Genes of Recent Isolates from Dogs in Japan. J. Clin. Microbiol. 37, 2936–2942 (1999).
- 81. Wostenberg, D. J. *et al.* EVIDENCE OF TWO COCIRCULATING CANINE DISTEMPER VIRUS STRAINS IN MESOCARNIVORES FROM NORTHERN COLORADO, USA. *J. Wildl. Dis.* **54**, 534 (2018).
- Duque-Valencia, J. *et al.* Phylogenetic evidence of the intercontinental circulation of a Canine distemper virus lineage in the Americas. *Sci. Rep.* 9, 15747 (2019).
- Buque-Valencia, J., Sarute, N., Olarte-Castillo, X. A. & Ruíz-Sáenz, J. Evolution and Interspecies Transmission of Canine Distemper Virus—An Outlook of the Diverse Evolutionary Landscapes of a Multi-Host Virus. *Viruses* 11, 582 (2019).
- Langedijk, J. P. M. *et al.* Canine Distemper Virus Infects Canine Keratinocytes and Immune Cells by Using Overlapping and Distinct Regions Located on One Side of the Attachment Protein. *J. Virol.* 85, 11242–11254 (2011).
- 85. Nagao, Y. *et al.* An Outbreak of Canine Distemper Virus in Tigers (*Panthera tigris*): Possible Transmission from Wild Animals to Zoo Animals. *J. Vet. Med. Sci.* **74**, 699–705 (2012).
- 86. Weckworth, J. K. *et al.* Identifying Candidate Genetic Markers of CDV Cross-Species Pathogenicity in African Lions. *Pathogens* **9**, 872 (2020).

- Fukuhara, H. *et al.* Specificity of Morbillivirus Hemagglutinins to Recognize SLAM of Different Species. *Viruses* 11, 761 (2019).
- Ohishi, K. *et al.* RECENT HOST RANGE EXPANSION OF CANINE DISTEMPER VIRUS AND VARIATION IN ITS RECEPTOR, THE SIGNALING LYMPHOCYTE ACTIVATION MOLECULE, IN CARNIVORES. *J. Wildl. Dis.* 50, 596–606 (2014).
- Burrell, C. E. *et al.* Characterization and Comparison of SLAM/CD150 in Free-Ranging Coyotes,
 Raccoons, and Skunks in Illinois for Elucidation of Canine Distemper Virus Disease. *Pathogens* 9, 510 (2020).
- Thorne, E. T. & Williams, E. S. Disease and Endangered Species: The Black-footed Ferret as a Recent Example. *Conserv. Biol.* 2, 66–74 (1988).
- Roelke-Parker, M. E. *et al.* A canine distemper virus epidemic in Serengeti lions (Panthera leo).
 Nature 379, 441–445 (1996).
- Carpenter, M. A. *et al.* Genetic characterization of canine distemper virus in Serengeti carnivores.
 Vet. Immunol. Immunopathol. 65, 259–266 (1998).
- Nikolin, V. M. *et al.* Canine distemper virus in the Serengeti ecosystem: molecular adaptation to different carnivore species. *Mol. Ecol.* 26, 2111–2130 (2017).
- 94. Timm, S. F. *et al.* A SUSPECTED CANINE DISTEMPER EPIDEMIC AS THE CAUSE OF A CATASTROPHIC DECLINE IN SANTA CATALINA ISLAND FOXES (UROCYON LITTORALIS CATALINAE). *J. Wildl. Dis.* **45**, 333–343 (2009).
- Kennedy, S. *et al.* Mass Die-Off of Caspian Seals Caused by Canine Distemper Virus. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* 6, 637–639 (2000).
- Kennedy, J. M. *et al.* Canine and Phocine Distemper Viruses: Global Spread and Genetic Basis of Jumping Species Barriers. *Viruses* **11**, 944 (2019).

- 97. Qiu, W. Canine Distemper Outbreak in Rhesus Monkeys, China. *Emerg. Infect. Dis.* (2011) doi:10.3201/eid1708.101153.
- George, A. M. *et al.* A novel and highly divergent Canine Distemper Virus lineage causing distemper in ferrets in Australia. *Virology* 576, 117–126 (2022).
- 99. Jo, W. K. *et al.* The Canine Morbillivirus Strain Associated with An Epizootic in Caspian Seals Provides New Insights into the Evolutionary History of this Virus. *Viruses* **11**, 894 (2019).
- 100. Damien, B. C. *et al.* Prevalence of Antibodies against Canine Distemper Virus among Red Foxes in Luxembourg. *J. Wildl. Dis.* **38**, 856–859 (2002).
- 101. Pope, J. P., Miller, D. L., Riley, M. C., Anis, E. & Wilkes, R. P. Characterization of a novel *Canine distemper virus* causing disease in wildlife. *J. Vet. Diagn. Invest.* **28**, 506–513 (2016).
- 102. Woolf, A., Gremillion-Smith, C. & Evans, R. H. Evidence of canine distemper virus infection in skunks negative for antibody against rabies virus. *J. Am. Vet. Med. Assoc.* **189**, 1086–1088 (1986).
- Millán, J. *et al.* Serosurvey of Dogs for Human, Livestock, and Wildlife Pathogens, Uganda.
 Emerg. Infect. Dis. **19**, 680–682 (2013).
- 104. McDermott, I., Gilbert, M., Shah, M. K., Sadaula, A. & Anderson, N. E. Seroprevalence of canine distemper virus (CDV) in the free-roaming dog (Canis familiaris) population surrounding Chitwan National Park, Nepal. *PLOS ONE* **18**, e0281542 (2023).
- 105. Appel, M. J. Forty years of canine vaccination. Adv. Vet. Med. 41, 309–324 (1999).
- 106. Stephensen, C. B. *et al.* Canine distemper virus (CDV) infection of ferrets as a model for testing Morbillivirus vaccine strategies: NYVAC- and ALVAC-based CDV recombinants protect against symptomatic infection. *J. Virol.* **71**, 1506–1513 (1997).
- 107. Tizard, I. R. Canine vaccines. in *Vaccines for Veterinarians* 153-166.e1 (Elsevier, 2021). doi:10.1016/B978-0-323-68299-2.00022-8.

- 108. Wilkes, R. P. Canine Distemper Virus in Endangered Species: Species Jump, Clinical Variations, and Vaccination. *Pathogens* **12**, 57 (2022).
- 109. Sadler, R. A., Ramsay, E., McAloose, D., Rush, R. & Wilkes, R. P. EVALUATION OF TWO CANINE DISTEMPER VIRUS VACCINES IN CAPTIVE TIGERS (*PANTHERA TIGRIS*). *J. Zoo Wildl. Med.* **47**, 558– 563 (2016).
- Vergara-Wilson, V. *et al.* Canine Distemper Outbreak by Natural Infection in a Group of Vaccinated Maned Wolves in Captivity. *Pathogens* 10, 51 (2021).
- 111. Chinnadurai, S. K., Kinsel, M. J., Adkesson, M. J. & Terio, K. CANINE DISTEMPER IN A VACCINATED SNOW LEOPARD (*PANTHERA UNCIA*). *J. Zoo Wildl. Med.* **48**, 1200–1203 (2017).
- Mulreany, L. M., Cushing, A. C. & Ramsay, E. C. CANINE DISTEMPER AND PARVOVIRUS
 VACCINATION WITH RECOMBITEK C3 IN AFRICAN WILD DOGS (LYCAON PICTUS). *J. Zoo Wildl. Med.* 52, (2021).
- 113. Vega-Mariño, P. *et al.* A recent distemper virus outbreak in the growing canine populations of Galapagos Islands: a persistent threat for the endangered Galapagos Sea Lion. *Front. Vet. Sci.* 10, 1154625 (2023).
- 114. Viana, M. *et al.* Dynamics of a morbillivirus at the domestic–wildlife interface: Canine distemper virus in domestic dogs and lions. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **112**, 1464–1469 (2015).
- 115. Prager, K. C. *et al.* The effect of protected areas on pathogen exposure in endangered African wild dog (Lycaon pictus) populations. *Biol. Conserv.* **150**, 15–22 (2012).
- 116. Blasio, A. D. *et al.* CANINE DISTEMPER VIRUS AS AN EMERGING MULTIHOST PATHOGEN IN WILD CARNIVORES IN NORTHWEST ITALY. *J. Wildl. Dis.* **55**, 844 (2019).
- 117. Almberg, E. S., Cross, P. C. & Smith, D. W. Persistence of canine distemper virus in the Greater Yellowstone Ecosystem's carnivore community. *Ecol. Appl.* **20**, 2058–2074 (2010).

- Prager, K. C. *et al.* Rabies Virus and Canine Distemper Virus in Wild and Domestic Carnivores in Northern Kenya: Are Domestic Dogs the Reservoir? *EcoHealth* 9, 483–498 (2012).
- 119. Cleaveland, S. *et al.* Serological and demographic evidence for domestic dogs as a source of canine distemper virus infection for Serengeti wildlife. *Vet. Microbiol.* **72**, 217–227 (2000).
- 120. Rentería-Solís, Z. *et al.* Canine distemper outbreak in raccoons suggests pathogen interspecies transmission amongst alien and native carnivores in urban areas from Germany. *Vet. Microbiol.* **174**, 50–59 (2014).
- 121. Almuna, R., López-Pérez, A. M., Sarmiento, R. E. & Suzán, G. Drivers of canine distemper virus exposure in dogs at a wildlife interface in Janos, Mexico. *Vet. Rec. Open* **8**, (2021).
- 122. Budaszewski, R. D. F. *et al.* Genotyping of canine distemper virus strains circulating in Brazil from 2008 to 2012. *Virus Res.* **180**, 76–83 (2014).
- 123. Radford, A. D. *et al.* Application of next-generation sequencing technologies in virology. *J. Gen. Virol.* **93**, 1853–1868 (2012).
- 124. Houldcroft, C. J., Beale, M. A. & Breuer, J. Clinical and biological insights from viral genome sequencing. *Nat. Rev. Microbiol.* **15**, 183–192 (2017).
- 125. McCarthy, A. J., Shaw, M.-A. & Goodman, S. J. Pathogen evolution and disease emergence in carnivores. *Proc. R. Soc. B Biol. Sci.* **274**, 3165–3174 (2007).
- 126. Sekulin, K. *et al.* Emergence of canine distemper in Bavarian wildlife associated with a specific amino acid exchange in the haemagglutinin protein. *Vet. J.* **187**, 399–401 (2011).
- 127. Nikolin, V. M., Wibbelt, G., Michler, F.-U. F., Wolf, P. & East, M. L. Susceptibility of carnivore hosts to strains of canine distemper virus from distinct genetic lineages. *Vet. Microbiol.* **156**, 45–53 (2012).
- 128. Nikolin, V. M. *et al.* Antagonistic Pleiotropy and Fitness Trade-Offs Reveal Specialist and Generalist Traits in Strains of Canine Distemper Virus. *PLoS ONE* **7**, e50955 (2012).

- 129. da Costa, V. G. *et al.* First complete genome sequence and molecular characterization of Canine morbillivirus isolated in Central Brazil. *Sci. Rep.* **11**, 13039 (2021).
- 130. Murrell, B. *et al.* Detecting Individual Sites Subject to Episodic Diversifying Selection. *PLoS Genet.*8, e1002764 (2012).
- Murrell, B. *et al.* FUBAR: A Fast, Unconstrained Bayesian AppRoximation for Inferring Selection.
 Mol. Biol. Evol. **30**, 1196–1205 (2013).